

Durham E-Theses

The effect of hydra mutations on HD-START domain genes in Arabidopsis thaliana

Loughenbury, Maria

How to cite:

Loughenbury, Maria (2009) The effect of hydra mutations on HD-START domain genes in Arabidopsis thaliana, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/2095/

Use policy

 $The full-text\ may\ be\ used\ and/or\ reproduced,\ and\ given\ to\ third\ parties\ in\ any\ format\ or\ medium,\ without\ prior\ permission\ or\ charge,\ for\ personal\ research\ or\ study,\ educational,\ or\ not-for-profit\ purposes\ provided\ that:$

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

The Effect of *hydra* Mutations on HD-START Domain Genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*

by

Maria Loughenbury

Ustinov College, University of Durham

Biology MSc

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author or the university to which it was submitted. No quotation from it, or information derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author or university, and any information derived from it should be acknowledged.

Supervisors: Prof. Keith Lindsey

Dr Jennifer Topping

2 9 OCT 2009



<u>Summary</u>

The study of sterol defective mutants of *Arabidopsis thaliana* has provided an invaluable opportunity to investigate the importance of sterols in plant development. The *hydra* mutants in particular - seedling lethal mutations - exhibit great phenotypic variation, leading to the supposition that sterols have a far more complex role in plant development than previously anticipated.

It has been postulated that some sterol molecules are directly involved in the regulation of gene transcription during plant development. The binding of some sterols to START domains (sterol binding domains) found in some mammalian proteins has been noted, and it is possible that plant transcription factors containing START domains could be localised to the nucleus by the binding of specific sterols. This hypothesis may be tested by creating HD-START::GFP fusion proteins to act as a reporter, permitting the subcellular localisation of the produced protein to be viewed using confocal scanning laser microscopy.

In order to determine if the expression of START domain transcription factors is itself regulated by sterols, independent of possible roles for sterols in their localization to the nucleus, the comparative steady state transcription levels of five HD-START domain transcription factors were studied by real-time RT-PCR. A comparison of *hydra* mutant mRNA levels to their wild type counterparts was carried out to determine whether there is a requirement for sterols in the regulation of the tested genes. Although the results do appear to suggest this to be the case, the data and the conclusions require further validation.

2 9 OCT 2009



Contents

1.	INTROD	OUCTION	1
	11 BAC	KGROUND INFORMATION	1
	1.1.1.	Sterols and the Sterol Biosynthetic Pathway	
	1.1.1.1.	Sterols.	
	1.1.1.2.	The Sterol Biosynthetic Pathway	2
	1.1.1.3.	Mutations in the Sterol Biosynthesis Pathway	2
	<i>1.1.2</i> .	The hydra Mutants	4
	1.1.2.1.	The hydra Mutant Phenotype	5
	1.1.2.2.	The hydra Mutations	5
	1.1.2.3.	What the hydra Mutants Can Teach Us	5
	1.1.3	START Domain Genes	7
	1.1.3.1.	What START Domain Proteins Are	7
	1.1.3.2.	The Role of Sterols in HD-START Domain Transcription Factors	8
	1.2. THE	PROJECT: AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	10
	1.2.1.	The Regulation of START Domain Transcription Factors	
	1.2.2.	The Subcellular Localisation of START Domain Transcription Factors	
	1.3. METHO	DDS TO BE USED	
	1.3.1	GFP and the alc System	
	1.3.1.1.	GFP as an Experimental Tool	۱۱ ۱۹
	1.3.1.2.	Paal time DT DCD	12
	1.3.2.		15
2.	MATER	IALS AND METHODS	18
	21 ERECU		18
	211	I B (I auria-Rertani) Medium	18
	212	Plant Growth Medium	10 18
	213	TAF ael electrophoresis huffer	18
	2.1.5.	Agarosa Gal Flactrophorasis	10
	2.7.4. 22 RNA	A EVED ACTION AND ANALYSIS	10
	2.2. KITF	Pranaration	10
	2.2.7.	Growth Conditions for Plants	
	2.2.1.1.	RNA Extraction	
	2.2.1.3.	cDNA Synthesis	
	2.2.2.	Analysis	23
	2.2.2.1.	Primers	23
	2.2.2.2.	Real-Time RT-PCR	23
	2.3. CRE	ATION OF START::GFP FUSION VECTORS	25
	2.3.1.	Cloning	25
	2.3.1.1.	Amplifying the genes	25
	2.3.1.2.	Cloning into TOPO vector	27
	2.3.1.3.	Colony PCR	
	2.3.1.4.	Plasmid Preps of Transformed Cells	
	2.3.2.	Cioning of HD-START domain genes into the binary vector	
	2.3.3. 2.4 DLAX	UNA sequencing	
	2.4. PLAI	Transformation and Growth of Agrobactorium	
	∠.4.1.)))1	Transformation of Plants	
	2.2.2.1.	Selection	
	2.2.2.1.	Induction	
•	DECUIT	۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰	-
5.	KESULT	3	34
	3.1. QUA	NTITATION OF RNA LEVELS BY REAL TIME RT-PCR	34
	3.2. Cre.	ATION OF START::GFP CONSTRUCTS	41
	3.2.1.	Cloning of START::GFP Fusion into alc System Vectors	41
	3.3. MICI	ROSCOPY	

3.3.	1. START::GFP Fusions and Fluorescence Microscopy	
4. DIS	CUSSION	45
4.1.	CREATION OF START::GFP FUSION PROTEINS	
4.2.	REAL-TIME RT-PCR ASSAYS	
4.3.	DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	51
5. RE	FERENCES	
5. RE 6. AP	FERENCES	53 59
 5. RE 6. AP 6.1. 	FERENCES PENDICES Appendix A – Sequences	
 5. RE 6. AP 6.1. 6.2. 	FERENCES PENDICES Appendix A – Sequences Appendix B – Constructs and Vectors	

List of Figures

Figure 1 - The Plant Sterol Biosynthesis Pathway.....pg 3
Figure 2 - Wild type and hydra.....pg 6
Figure 3 - Cloning into the alcohol inducible system.....pg 14
Figure 4 - Hyperladder I.....pg 20
Figure 5 -mRNA Levels obtained through real-time RT-PCR......pg 35-36
Figure 6 - Confocal Scanning Fluorescence Microscopy......pg 43

List of Tables

Table 1 – Real-time RT-PCR primerspg 23 Table 2 – Components and volumes for real-time RT-PCR assay.....pg 24 Table 3 – Primers for amplifying full length *PHB* and *GL2*pg 26 Table 4 – Components and volumes for full length amplification ...pg 26 Table 5 – Range of mRNA levels compared between the *hydra* mutants...pg 40

Acknowledgements

This dissertation would not have been possible without the hard work, patience, and kindness of my two supervisors: Doctor Topping and Professor Lindsey. I would like to thank them both, and to thank everybody who worked in lab 1004 during my time there. Everyone was helpful and welcoming and gave unstintingly of their time and expertise. The kindness of all concerned made my time there both enjoyable and productive.

Part 1: Introduction

1. Introduction

1.1. Background Information

The regulation of genes and their activity is a very important component in the development of all living creatures. Genes regulate all functions in development and indeed throughout life; many genes also regulate the activity of other genes, perhaps the most classic example being those coding for transcription factors required for the expression of other genes.

1.1.1. Sterols and the Sterol Biosynthetic Pathway

1.1.1.1. Sterols

Sterols are essential molecules in all eukaryotes, playing a crucial role in many aspects of cellular activity. They play a key structural role, with their presence in membranes allowing for increased and regulated fluidity which is essential for cells to function, allowing the modulation of protein function and preventing membrane freezing at low temperatures. They also play an important role in both extracellular and intracellular signalling, often acting as secondary messengers, and are precursors of a number of other molecules. Ergosterol, typically found in fungal cell membranes, can go on to form Vitamin D2 with the aid of ultraviolet light (Rajakumar, 2007). In plants sterols take on an extra significance as the precursors of the hormones known collectively as brassinosteroids (BR) (Hartmann, 1998). The BRs are involved in any plant processes, including the promotion of vascular differentiation (Cano-Delgado, 2004), pollen tube formation (Hewitt et al., 1985) and, alongside auxin, the promotion of cell elongation and expansion (Clouse and Sasse, 1998; Nemhauser et al., 2004) Therefore it is difficult to overestimate the importance of sterols in plants, and much work has been carried out in order to elucidate the mechanisms by which they are formed, transported, and function (Bishop and Yokota, 2001).

1.1.1.2. The Sterol Biosynthetic Pathway

Since the functions of sterols are clearly so many and varied, it is important to understand how the molecules themselves are made. In plants the pathway by which sterols are produced is complex, involving many reaction steps and a multitude of enzymes. Such complexity can be beneficial to the plant, since it allows for a great diversity of products and also allows for tight regulation by the many enzymes and other molecules involved at each step.

Figure 1 shows a simplified representation of the sterol biosynthetic pathway in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. It is evident that much of the pathway is arranged as steps which follow directly on from one another. It is also evident from the diagram that the *Arabidopsis* sterol biosynthetic pathway forks into two major and distinct branches, each of which leads to the production of very different products. One branch primarily synthesises those sterols which have roles in membrane fluidity (such as cholesterol) and intracellular signalling (i.e. the bulk sterols). The second branch, whilst forming other sterols early on, ultimately goes on to form the brassinosteroid hormones, (Hartmann, 1998; Clouse, 2000).

1.1.1.3. Mutations in the Sterol Biosynthesis Pathway

Much of the sterol biosynthesis pathway and many of the enzymes involved with it have been identified and characterised based on comparison with the sterol biosynthetic pathway in yeast, which has been well studied (Gachotte et al., 1996). Studies in plants themselves have yielded a wealth of information, and genetic studies have proved valuable in identifying enzymes involved in the production of sterols and further understanding signal transduction (Clouse, 2000; Diener et al., 2000; Schaeffer et al., 2001). In such a highly complex pathway there are a large number of enzymes and other molecules required in order for the pathway to function. Any one of the steps, if affected by a non-redundant mutation, would prevent the formation of sterols essential to the development of a healthy plant.



Figure 1: Diagrammatic representation of the sterol biosynthetic pathway in *Arabidopsis* (from Schrick, 2002) showing the relative positions of the *hydra 1-2* and *hydra 2* (also known as *fackel*, and marked above as *FK*) mutants. It should be noted that the *hydra* mutations are located upstream of the division of the pathway into two main branches, and consequently the *hydra* mutations would affect the bulk sterols and the brassinosteriods. (<u>http://www.uni-tuebingen.de/ZMBP/research/dgschrick.html</u>)

Numerous mutations which affect the *Arabidopsis* sterol biosynthetic pathway have already been identified, and the study of mutants such as these has proved a valuable tool in further elucidating the mechanisms by which plant development is governed. Some defects in embryogenesis and hormone signalling appear to be the result of abnormal sterol levels, and in some cases the application of a sterol, otherwise downregulated by a particular mutation, results in at least partial phenotype rescue. Typically this phenotype rescue is possible when an enzyme involved in the BR branch of the sterol biosynthesis pathway is faulty, where the exogenous application of BRs allows the plant to develop far more normally than would otherwise have been possible (Szekeres *et al.*, 1996; Choe *et al.*, 1999), as is the case with the tomato *dwarf* mutants, with a mutation directly affecting the mutation of the BR brassinolide (Bishop *et al.*, 1999). However, many other mutations are unable to be overcome by the addition of BRs. One such mutant is the *Arabidopsis* mutant *sterol methyltransferase 1* (*smt1*), in which sitosterol is not formed (Diener *et al.*, 2000).

Another sterol biosynthetic mutant which was unable to be rescued by exogenous BR application, despite being BR deficient, was *fackel* (*fk*). Encoding a sterol reductase the *fk* mutants are typically embryonic lethal, although they are able to be grown for a time in MS media (Jang et al., 2000; Schrick et al., 2000). Further studies have since shown that FK is allelic to the *hydra2* (*hyd2*) mutant, first described along with *hyd1* in 1997 (Topping, 1997). It is these hydra mutants which will be studied in further detail in this dissertation.

1.1.2. The hydra Mutants

The sequential organisation of the *Arabidopsis* sterol biosynthesis pathway is such that a mutation further upstream in the sequence would affect many sterols located further downstream, likely resulting in pleiotropic phenotypes. Such is the case with the *Arabidopsis* mutants *hydra1* and *hydra2*, where the mutations affect steps of the biosynthetic pathway upstream of the fork which splits the pathway into the bulk steroid and BR branches (Diener *et al.* 2000; Jang *et al.* 2000; Schrick *et al.* 2000; 2002; Souter *et al.* 2002). These mutants therefore suggest a critical role for sterols in signalling pathways involved in early plant development and patterning.

1.1.2.1. The *hydra* Mutant Phenotype

The *hydra* mutants were first identified by a mutational screen in 1997, and were found to contain significantly reduced concentrations of major sterols than the wild type. The resulting pleiotropic phenotypes were highly variable. Generally seedling lethal, these mutants were dwarfed, characterised by misshaped cells, multiple, fused cotyledons, a truncated hypocotyl, and a greatly reduced root system. If grown in greenhouse conditions these mutants are embryonic lethal, because although embryo development is completely normal up to the octant stage, the embryos rapidly fall behind what is expected from the wild type in terms of cellular arrangement, with very poorly defined vascular tissue and embryonic root when present at all (Topping *et al.*, 1997). Figure 2 shows a wild type seedling as compared with a *hydra* mutant (pictured at 3 weeks old).

1.1.2.2. The *hydra* Mutations

The mutations which cause the *hyd1* and *hyd2* phenotypes have been identified, allowing a greater understanding of the roles of the *HYD1* and *HYD2* genes in sterol biosynthesis. *HYDRA1* is a gene which encodes a $\Delta 7$ - $\Delta 8$ sterol isomerase enzyme first characterised in yeast (Grebenok, 1998). There are no similar mutants in other organisms, although the protein itself has been found to have much homology with EBP, a mammalian sterol receptor located in the nuclear envelope and endoplasmic reticulum of cells (Jblio *et al.*, 1997; Dussossoy *et al.*, 1999). The *HYDRA2* gene has been identified as coding for a C14 sterol isomerase located 1 step upstream from *HYDRA1* in the sterol biosynthesis pathway.

1.1.2.3. What the *hydra* Mutants Can Teach Us

The study of the pleiotropic effects of two identifiable mutations which occur in such close proximity within the sterol biosynthetic pathway, provides further evidence which may be used to determine possible mechanisms by which sterols are involved in plant development.



highly variable.

6

As mentioned previously, the *hydra* mutants, while low in BRlevels, cannot be rescued by the exogenous application of BRs. Since other mutants can be rescued, whether fully or partially, by this method, the unresponsiveness of the *hyd* mutants is suggestive of difficulties either in perceiving or utilising the BRs applied or of a role for sterols upstream of the BR pathway. This in turn indicates that the problems encountered by the *hyd* mutants during development are not purely the result of a lack of BRs, and therefore it is likely that some bulk sterols, or indeed minor sterols, may have important roles to play in plant development.

Whilst it is possible that a failure to respond to applied BRs is the result of decreased membrane permeability or similar problems, another possible mechanism is being investigated which could shed further light on the varied and complex sterol interactions required for development.

1.1.3 START Domain Genes

1.1.3.1. What START Domain Proteins Are

START domains are sterol binding regions found in some proteins and are approximately 200 amino acids in length. They are highly conserved in plants and animals and appear to have a regulatory role (Ponting and Aravind 1999; Schrick *et al.* 2004).

Proteins with this sterol binding region were first identified in mammals, which make use of a protein which binds and transports cholesterol. This cholesterol binding protein is known as the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) and problems with the expression or function of this protein are known to result in a variety of disorders in humans, including autoimmune diseases and some cancers (reviewed in Alpy and Tomasetto 2005).

The StAR-related lipid transfer (START) domains were again first identified in mammals, where the structure of several START domains has been determined. The

evidence shows they form a hydrophobic tunnel into which a ligand, typically a sterol but may also be a lipid, is bound (Schrick, 2006). START domain proteins are far more numerous in plants than in mammals, with the human genome containing 15 as opposed to the 36 found in Arabidopsis. This dissertation will be focusing upon the START domain proteins found in plants, where they are thought to play a role in signalling and transport

Several theories for START-mediated lipid signalling have been proposed, and many different families of START domain proteins have been identified and investigated. Amongst these families are those START domain proteins which also contain a pleckstrin homology (PH) domain, whose function appears to be linked to phospholipid signalling and at least one of which is implicated in disease resistance (encountered in studies of faciogenital dysplasia, or Aarskag-Scott Syndrome: Orrico, 2000) . There are also two families of START domain proteins specific to plants which contain a C-terminal domain designated DUF1336, the function of which has not yet been determined. (Schrick, 2006). The family of START domain proteins to be considered and studied in more depth in this dissertation are the plant-specific family which contain both a START domain and a homeodomain (HD) DNA binding motif.

1.1.3.2. The Role of Sterols in HD-START Domain Transcription Factors

In Arabidopsis the majority of proteins containing a START domain also contain this HD motif and act as transcription factors. The HD-START transcription factor family were found through genetic analyses to be involved in plant development. This evidence, added to the knowledge that mutant HD-START phenotypes exhibit phenotypic similarities with a select group of sterol biosynthesis mutants, supports the hypothesis that the START domains in transcription factors have some role to play in regulating the expression of genes and therefore plant development as well.

More specifically, a subset of the HD-START domain proteins has been characterized which should contain a leucine zipper, a structural motif in proteins which allows the

arrangement of parallel alpha helices. This HD-ZIP subset of START domain transcription factors has been divided into 2 families, each of which contains genes which will be studied further in this investigation. Of the 21 HD-START domain transcription factors in *Arabidopsis*, 16 contain what is known as the class IV HD Leu-zipper (HD-ZIP) and therefore form the class IV HD-ZIP family (Schrick, 2006).

A number of these HD-START proteins containing the IV HD-ZIP region are known to be involved in development, allowing for cell differentiation within specific layers of tissue (reviewed in Schrick *et al.* 2004). Two members of this family have been chosen for further study: *Arabidopsis thaliana MERISTEM LAYER 1 (AtML1)*, expressed in the epidermis of developing embryos, and *GLABRA 2 (GL2)*, affecting epidermal cell fate, including trichomes, root hairs, and seed coat (Nakamura *et al.* 2006).

The remaining 5 HD-START domain transcription factors form the class III HD-ZIP family, in which the products contain a classic basic-region leucine zipper (Mukherjee *et al.* 2006). Of these five genes, three will be investigated further during this dissertation: *REVOLUTA* (*REV*), involved in meristem formation at lateral positions such as lateral roots and flower buds, and *PHABULOSA* (*PHB*) and *PHAVOLUTA* (*PHV*), both of which have been implicated in regulating abaxial/adaxial axis fate in developing leaves. All of these genes in the class III HD-ZIP family have roles in embryonic patterning, and their roles have been found partially to overlap (Prigge *et al.*, 2005)

Therefore five different genes have been chosen for study: *AtML1*, *GL2*, *PHB*, *PHV*, and *REV*. These genes were all chosen because they all have roles in patterning and cell fate during development. It is hypothesised that sterols interact with them and may therefore help to regulate or aid their function, in which case sterols would have a key regulatory role in plant development (McConnell *et al.*, 2001).

1.2. The Project: Aims and Objectives

The overall aim of this project is to elucidate further the critical role played by sterols in plant development. It has been hypothesized that the extreme pleiotropic phenotype exhibited by hydra mutants is a direct result of the role of sterols in gene regulation. The mutations involved may result in a lack of specific sterols required to allow some plant transcription factors to function, either acting as co-factors or as ligands. There are 36 proteins in Arabidopsis which are thought to contain a sterol binding site (a START domain), and the majority are either known or predicted to be transcription factors. The working hypothesis for this project is that the binding of sterol molecules to START domains of the transcription factors acts to regulate gene expression by targeting the protein-sterol complex to the nucleus, where the transcription factor may carry out its function. Were this hypothesis to be correct, the hydra mutants could be the result of a deficiency of specific sterols resulting in improper subcellular localization or activity of START domain transcription factors, leaving them unable to carry out their function and therefore the developmental genes which they regulate would not be expressed. Given the phenotypic defects in the hydra mutants, it is also possible that transcription factors, including START-domain transcription factors, are not correctly expressed in the mutants, a possibility that is distinct from the possible mis-localization of these proteins.

The role of this dissertation is therefore to attempt to further the bodies of evidence enable the understanding of two important processes:

1.2.1. The Regulation of START Domain Transcription Factors

In order to determine if the expression of START domain transcription factors are in some way misregulated in sterol mutants, the comparative transcription levels of the five HD-START domain transcription factors described earlier - *AtML1*, *GL2*, *PHB*, *PHV* and *REV* – are here determined by real-time RT-PCR. This was accomplished by isolating mRNA from developing seedlings at 2 day intervals, thus their steady state transcription levels could be analysed in both *hydra* mutant backgrounds over the a 14 day developmental period as compared with wild type. Any significant differences

between steady state transcription levels of the genes in question in a typical sterol environment versus an atypical sterol environment would likely indicate a requirement for sterols.

1.2.2. The Subcellular Localisation of START Domain Transcription Factors

A major hypothesis of this dissertation is that sterols, by binding to START domain transcription factors, target them to the nucleus where they are then able to regulate gene expression, it follows that transcription factors expressed in an atypical sterol background might be improperly localised such that they would be present in the cell cytoplasm, and this can be tested. It is possible to determine this localisaton by creating HD-START::GFP fusion proteins to act as an indicator enabling the subcellular localization of a specific transcription factor to be observed when samples are viewed using confocal scanning laser microscopy. In this case the GFP to be used was the pMP N-linked GFP fusion construct, described in section 1.3.1.1., within the alcohol inducible binary vector described in section 1.3.1.2.

1.3. Methods to be Used

1.3.1 GFP and the alc System

1.3.1.1. GFP as an Experimental Tool

Green Fluorescent Protein, or GFP, is a protein of 238 amino acids which fluoresces green when exposed to blue light (Tsien, 1998). It was first identified in the jellyfish *Aequorea victoria* in 1962 (Shimomura *et al.*, 1962) and its discovery and scientific applications have proven so important that the scientists involved in its identification have been awarded a Nobel Prize for their achievements. However, the true significance of their discovery was not immediately evident, and it was not until some years later that the potential of GFP as a reporter for use in molecular biology studies began to be realised. This was largely made possible by the publication of a nucleotide sequence for wild type GFP (Prasher *et al.*, 1992) along with the fact that GFP requires no additional chemicals to fluoresce, and is able to fluoresce at room

temperature. GFP has been adapted to a wide range of uses in molecular biology, though in each case it acts as a reporter, providing information on the location of the protein(s) to which it is bound. This reporting can be large scale, allowing detection of specific cell types *in vivo* (Chudakov *et al.* 2005) or, on a smaller scale, it has been used to facilitate further understanding of processes such as protein folding and transport. GFP has proven to be invaluable in laboratory studies, revolutionising fluorescence microscopy and enabling previously very challenging experiments to be carried out more easily and effectively than previously (Yuste, 2005). Its influence is so widespread that GFP has even been the subject of art: the German artist Julian Voss-Andreae has created several sculptures based upon the structure of GFP (Voss-Andreae, 2005).

In this project GFP was used in an attempt to determine the subcellular localisation of HD-START domain proteins in *hydra* mutant backgrounds as compared to wild type *Arabidopsis* plants. The GFP used through the course of this dissertation was pMP N-link GFP; a new experimental GFP construct created and kindly supplied by Dr Margaret Pullen. A map of the pMP-GFP construct may be viewed in appendix B. Since this GFP is experimental its use within this dissertation takes on a second purpose: to determine if the pMP N-linkGFP functions correctly.

1.3.1.2. The *alc* System

In order to study gene activity in plants, several expression systems have been developed in which the external application of chemicals is used to induce transcription of the target gene (reviewed in Gatz, 1997; Jepson *et al.*, 1998, Zuo and Chua, 2000). This enables the studied genes to be 'switched on' transcriptionally at specific times during development. This method therefore permits the study of specific genes by effectively introducing them into an already functional and healthy system.

Modified versions of these systems have already proven to be useful tools in the study of several other plant mutants. The external application of dexamethasone to a dexamethasone-inducible system has enabled the targets of both the *APETALA3* and *CONSTANS* transcription factors to be identified, greatly furthering the understanding

of how they function (Sablowski and Meyerowitz, 1998; Samach et al., 2000)

The *alc* expression system has been developed based upon a group of co-regulated genes which have been identified in *Aspergillus nidulans* and which use ethanol to control gene exression (Pateman *et al.*, 1983; Sealy-Lewis and Lackington, 1984; Felenbok *et al.*, 1988). In this naturally occurring system a transcriptional regulator named *alcR* will only induce expression of the genes in the *alc* regulon if there is ethanol present (Caddick *et al.*, 1998; Salter *et al.*, 1998)

For this dissertation a modified version of the *alc* system from *A. nidulans* was used in an attempt to determine the subcellular localisation of the different HD-START domain genes in both wild type *Arabidopsis* and *hydra* mutant backgrounds. A graphic depiction of the binary vector *alc* system and how HD-START domain genes were cloned into it is displayed as Figure 3.

The system used here is a binary vector system. For this experiment the two vectors to be used are pACN (the smaller initial vector; 4024bp) and pSRNACNbin (the larger final vector; 16515bp). Maps of both of these vectors can be seen in appendix B.

The desired outcome of the cloning procedures for the fluorescence microscopy is that each full length HD-START domain gene should be linked directly to pMP N-link GFP within the pSRNACNbin vector, and thence be able to be added to *Arabidopsis* plants both with and without a *hydra* background to act as a reporter for the genes' subcellular localisation. This outcome can be achieved in two different ways. The first, as intended, is the process which was used for *Revoluta*: pMP N-link GFP would be inserted into the pACN vector, *Revoluta* would then be inserted into pACN such that it became linked to the GFP. Then both the *Revoluta* and the GFP would be excised as a single fragment using Hind III, before being inserted into the Pst site of pSRNACNbin (as depicted in Figure3). However, both *GL2* and *PHB* contain internal Hind III sites and therefore would be incapable of being excised from pACN as a single fragment. Consequently the process for *GL2* and *PHB* cloning would be different: pMP N-link GFP would be inserted directly into pSRNACNbin at the SnaB1 site, and the HD-START domain genes would have to be linked to it directly by addition straight into the larger vector.



1.3.2. Real-time RT PCR

When investigating the mRNA levels of different genes, or of a single gene against different mutant backgrounds, there are several different experimental methods available. As well as northern blotting and cDNA arrays (Butcher, 1999; Parker and Barnes, 1999) one can use the quantitative real-time Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction (real-time RT-PCR). This method of PCR is one of the most sensitive methods for the detection and quantitation of mRNA, and would therefore be suitable for use with plant tissue samples of limited mass (Bustin, 2000) which is a problem the *hydra* mutants pose, being both diminutive in size and having a low germination frequency.

Although real-time RT-PCR studies were used to quantify the HD-START domain mRNA levels by analysing the mRNA samples, mRNA itself cannot be used as a template for PCR reactions. Consequently all mRNA present must first be used to create cDNA replicas which may in turn act as a template for the PCR runs. The method by which this was carried out is detailed in section 2.2.1.4.

For the real-time RT-PCR studies in this dissertation the data collection is flouorescence-based, utilising the fluorescent dye SYBR Green: a cyanine dye which absorbs blue light at λ_{max} 488nm and emits green light at λ_{max} 522 nm (Zipper *et al.* 2004). When not bound to DNA, SYBR Green exhibits negligible fluorescence, however it binds indiscriminately to double-stranded DNA and, in doing so, fluoresces more strongly. Therefore the greater the quantity of double-stranded DNA which forms in the real-time RT-PCR reaction tubes, the greater the level of fluorescence will become (Morrison et al., 1998). This fluorescence may be detected and this way the level of fluorescence exhibited in any PCR reaction tube will act as a representation of the amount of amplified product. For the mRNA studies in this dissertation the BioGene real-time RT-PCR system was used. For each PCR run the level of fluorescence in every PCR tube was automatically measured by the BioGene machine during the 'extension' step of each of the cycles - the step in which the DNA was double-stranded (details of the PCR conditions used may be seen in section 2.2.2.2). Transparant thin-walled reaction tubes enable both the addition of blue light and the recording of emitted fluorescence.

15

Due to the high sensitivity of real-time RT-PCR assays the conditions under which the PCR reactions themselves were carried out must be carefully chosen and strictly regulated. One such factor is the primer pair used to amplify the desired product. It is preferable to use primer pairs which amplify short sequences of the target gene (Bustin, 2002) however this is not the only aspect of the primers which requires attention. Primer dimmer formation is a subject of concern as it can prevent the completion of successful real-time RT-PCR assays. A number of computer programs are currently available to aid the selection of possible primer sites (Rychlik et al. 1990). This experiment made use of the Oligo program (Molecular Biology Insights Inc.) to identify which sections of the HD-START domain genes being tested would be likely to contain functional and distinct primer sites, although the exact sequences of each primer used was determined manually.

By using real-time RT-PCR and the other experiments described it is hoped that further evidence may be gathered to either strengthen or refute the hypotheses described in this introduction Part 2: Materials and Methods

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Frequently Used solutions/methods

2.1.1. LB (Lauria-Bertani) Medium

The bacteria used in this project were grown in Lauria-Bertani medium, used both as a liquid (for plasmid preps) and, with the addition of agar, as a thick gel used when growing colonies. When making LB stock, each litre was made with distilled water to include: 10g of peptone (Duchefa Biochemie), 5g yeast extract (Duchefa Biochemie), and 5g NaCl (Sigma). When dissolved, this liquid LB and is typically decanted into 5ml and 20ml aliquots. For LB agar, 15g of agar (typically bacto-agar or select agar) is added per litre of mix and decanted into 400ml portions prior to autoclaving. Some LB medium used during this project were selective, with antibiotics (such as kanamycin, used at 50μ g ml⁻¹, and carbenicillin, used at 100μ g ml⁻¹) and X-gal (used at 40μ g ml⁻¹) being added when appropriate.

2.1.2. Plant Growth Medium

All plants studied in this project were initially grown in $\frac{1}{2}$ MS₁₀ media. Plants are typically typically grown on a mix of salts first developed by Murashige and Skoog in 1962, which are still known as MS salts (composition details are given in: Murashige and Skoog, 1962). Ordinarily growth media would contain 4.4g l⁻¹ of MS salts, however for $\frac{1}{2}$ MS₁₀ only half the concentration of salts are used (2.2g l⁻¹) along with 10g of sucrose. For all media used throughout this dissertation the pH was adjusted to 5.6/5.7 before the bactoagar was added at a concentration of 8g l⁻¹. Out of preference phytoagar would have been used, however this can degrade Kanamycin, which was used during this experiment.

2.1.3. TAE gel electrophoresis buffer

This solution is used both to buffer the electrophoresis gel during the process, and to make the gel itself. The buffer (10x) consists of the following components mixed in 5L of distilled water: 242g Tris (Analar), 57.1ml glacial acetic acid (Fisher Chemicals), and 37.2g Na₂EDTA.2H₂O (Sigma).

The gel on which DNA samples are run during electrophoresis is a 1% agarose gel, such that a 50ml gel would be made with 0.5g of agarose added to 50ml of 1x TAE. After being heated in a microwave until it was fully clear, and allowed to cool until it

was approximately 60°C, 2µl of Ethidium Bromide was added.

2.1.4. Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

This is a DNA examination technique which enables fragments to be separated according to size. Once a gel – made as described above – sets, it is submerged into a tank of 1xTAE Electrophoresis buffer. The DNA samples to be separated are placed in wells at one end of the gel so that they sit within the gel itself. An electrical current is then passed through the gel with the negative electrode located next to the side of the gel with the DNA wells in and in parallel to them, and the positive electrode at the opposite end of the tank. Therefore the DNA, a negatively charged molecule, would move forwards through the gel itself; with smaller molecules moving more rapidly through the gel than larger molecules. The DNA is made visible under UV light by the incorporation into the gel of ethidium bromide, which binds to the DNA by slipping between adjacent base pairs (Southern, 1979; Sambrook and Russel, 2001).

The first, and sometimes also the last, lanes were loaded with hyperladder I (Figure 4; Bioline) to allow the determination of both the size of the DNA molecules being examined and an approximation of the mass of DNA contained in each band. The actual samples were loaded with the following mix; 2 μ l of the DNA sample, 6 μ l distilled water (to add volume in order to facilitate pipetting) and 2 μ l of loading dye (where 10 ml contains 3ml glycerol and 25mg Bromophenol blue, made up to 10ml with distilled water). These samples were loaded into the wells of the submerged gel, and then run until about half way down the gel at between 68V and 130V, depending upon the size of the gel.

2.2. RNA extraction and analysis

2.2.1. Preparation

2.2.1.1. Growth Conditions for Plants

All *Arabidopsis* seeds, except those cultivated during the dissertation itself, were kindly provided by Dr Topping. The seeds used were the standard Columbia (Col-0) ecotype (to be referred to as wild type), from plants heterozygous for the *hydra 1-2* mutation, and from plants heterozygous for the *hydra 2* mutation. All seeds were

Band Size (bp)	DNA Per Ba	and
	<u>(ng)</u>	
10,000	100	
8,000	80	
6,000	60	
5,000	50	
4,000	40	
3,000	30	
2,500	25	
2,000	20	
1,500	15	Figure 4: Hyperladder I.
1 000	100	from Bioline. This was
- 1,000	100	used alongside samples
800	80	generated during the
600	60	experiment to determine
400	40	electrophoresis test in this
200	20	dissertation.

sterilised and grown in the plant medium described in section 2.1.2 and, as it aids the germination of those seedlings homozygous for either *hydra* mutation, all were kept away from light and maintained at 4°C for two weeks prior to their removal to the plant tissue culture facility. In this facility plants were kept under light for 24 hours a day. Growing seedlings remained in the plant tissue culture facility for five or six days before being transferred to greenhouses, although all seedlings to be used specifically for RNA analysis remained in the facility indefinitely.

Although theoretically the heterozygotic seeds should result in one in four progeny being homozygous for *hydra* and therefore showing *hydra* phenotype, this was not the reality. The germination frequency for *hydra* mutants is much larger than would be expected by simple probability, especially for the *hydra 1-2* mutants. Therefore experiments requiring the use of homozygous *hydra* mutants had three times as much plant tissue with which to work for *hydra 2* studies than *hydra 1-2* studies.

2.2.1.2. RNA Extraction

Seedlings were sampled at days 9, 11, and 13 of development. It had been hoped a longer time frame could be tested, however before day 9 the *hydra* mutants were too small to sample, and after day 13 many began to die. Therefore for each sample point 60mg to 90mg of plant material was weighed out in sterile eppendorphs, frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C until needed (after approximately two weeks). Samples were kept frozen in liquid nitrogen as they were ground into a powder using a mini pestle in an eppendorph, with approximately 10µl of sand being used to aid tissue grinding (this was necessary due to how tough the tissue of *hydra* seedlings is). RLT buffer (containing 10µl ml⁻¹ Beta-mercaptoethanol; Beta-ME) was added to prevent degradation of the mRNA as the tissue thawed, and the sample was spun down in a microcentrifuge for 30 seconds in order for the sand to separate from the sample and form a pellet. The supernatant was then removed carefully with a pipette and added to a spin column. Thereafter the rest of the RNA extraction followed the method set out in the Qiagen RNeasy RNA minipreps kit (the details of which are listed fully in appendix C) from step 3 onwards. Also, in order to remove

any possible contaminating DNA all samples were given a DNase treatment. For this treatment the RNeasy plant mini protocol was used (see appendix C).

2.2.1.3. cDNA Synthesis

In order to obtain a cDNA 'copy' of the extracted RNA samples the actual quantity of RNA in the purified sample was determined using a spectrophotometer. Each individual sample had its A_{260} and A_{280} measured to enable the RNA concentration to be determined by the following formula:

 $[RNA] = 40 \times A_{260} \times 20$

Where 20 is the dilution factor (all tested samples were diluted in sterilised distilled water so that minimum RNA was lost for this particular calculation), and 40 is used because – for RNA – A_{260} is equal to 1 when the sample is at a concentration of 40 µg ml⁻¹. Samples may be considered pure if their A_{260} value divided by their A_{280} value falls between 1.8 and 2, therefore any samples which fell outside this range were discarded.

Having determined the samples' concentration, cDNA synthesis could proceed. For each sample 10µl total RNA (at 100ng μ l⁻¹) was mixed with 2µl oligo(dT) primers, spun briefly in a microcentrifuge, and heated for 3 minutes at 70-85°C. They were then removed to ice, spun briefly, and replaced on ice before the following components were added: 2µl RT buffer (RetroScript), 4µl dNTP mix, 1µl RNase inhibitor (RetroScript) and 1µl MMLV-RT (Promega) as the reverse transcriptase. Samples were mixed gently, spun briefly in a microcentrifuge, then incubated at 50°C for 1 hour. They were then incubated at 92 °C for 10 minutes to inactivate the reverse transcriptase, and stored at -20 °C until required.

2.2.2. Analysis

2.2.2.1. **Primers**

Quantitative real time RT-PCR was used to investigate the expression of START domain transcription factors, and oligonucleotide primers were designed for each of these genes. Each of the primers was assigned a 'name' according to the following rules; rtRT-PCR (to indicate the experiment the primers were created for), the name of the gene (e.g. *REV* for *REVOLUTA*), then whether the direction of the primer is forward or reverse. These primers are detailed in Table 1.

Primer Name	Sequence (3' to 5)	Size of Product Created from cDNA/gDNA
rtRT-PCR_AtML1(for)	CCCTCAGCTCTCTTCTTCACACCA	120hn (520hn
rtRT-PCR_AtML1(rev)	TGATACAATCCCGCAGAACACACT	40000 / 5000p
rtRT-PCR_GL2(for)	GAAGTCCCGTATTGCCGAGATTT	
rtRT-PCR_GL2(rev)	TCCACTATTGCCCATTTCTCAGG	4610p / 6450p
rtRT-PCR_PHB(for)	GCAGCAGCTCGTGACTTTTGGAC	472hn (902hn
rtRT-PCR_PHB(rev)	CTCTGCACCATCGCTACCCATTG	47.50p 7.0050p
rtRT-PCR_PH∨(for)	CGTCCTTGTGATGGTGGTGGTTC	
rtRT-PCR_PH∨(rev)	ATAGAAGCTTTGGCACAGAGGAC	4210p / 6430p
rtRT-PCR_REV(for)	CAATGCTTCTCCAAAATGTTCCT	175hn / 773hn
rtRT-PCR_REV(for)	TGTACATCTCCCGTTTTAGCATC	4200h / 7200h

Table 1: Primers used for real-time RT-PCR studies. The table shows the sequences of the forward and reverse primers for each of the five START domain genes. The size of the products each primer pair would create is listed both for cDNA and for gDNA. This allows for the distinction of the desired cDNA from any contaminating genomic DNA (which contains introns and would therefore result in a larger product.) thereby enabling the purity of cDNA samples to be assessed.

2.2.2.2. Real-Time RT-PCR

Some of the factors which must be taken into consideration when designing real-time RT-PCR primers were mentioned in section 1.3.2. However, as well as the makeup of the primers themselves the concentration at which they are used in the reaction mix requires consideration. Indeed, due to the sensitivity of the real-time RT-PCR assays the optimal concentration of each component in the PCR master mix should be

determined to ensure accuracy of results. Prior to any reactions being carried out on the BioGene real-time RT-PCR machine optimisation runs were performed on standard PCR machines. For each of the five genes to be tested and the positive control gene *ACT2* (strongly expressed in all cells) sets of PCR reactions were carried out to determine the optimal concentration for every one of the components included in the PCR mix (by studying the gel electrophoresis results for each optimisation run). The final chosen volumes of PCR reactants for the real-time RT-PCR studies are listed in Table 2. Where possible it was decided that genes which were shown to provide clear results (bright and well defined bands on the electrophoresis gels produced during optimisation) for the same or very similar concentrations of reactants, would use the same PCR conditions.

PCR Reaction Mix			
	Volune		
Component	ACT2/AtML1/ GL2/PHB/PHV	REV	
x10 Buffer (without MgCl ₂)	2.0µ1	2.0µ1	
dNTPs (10mM)	0.6µ1	0.6µ1	
Forward primer (20pM)	0.2µ	0.2µ1	
Reverse primer (20pM)	1 بر0.2	0.2µ1	
cDNA (10ng µl-1)	0.4µł	0.4µl	
MgCl ₂ (50mM)	0.6µ1	0.4µl	
Sterile Water	15.5µ1	15.7µ1	
SYBR Green	0.3µ1	0.3µ1	
Taq Polymerase	0.2µ1	0.2µ1	

Table 2: Table showing the volumes of PCRreactants used in the real-time RT-PCR studies.

As well as the Taq polymerase, the SYBR Green fluorescent dye was added and mixed moments before the reaction tubes were placed into the BioGene real-time RT-PCR machine. Both Taq and SYBR Green require storage at -20°C, therefore being exposed to room temperatures for any length of time before the PCR run started could only weaken their performance. SYBR Green must also be stored in complete darkness to prevent the fluorescence from becoming inactive, therefore it was the final PCR component added (to ensure the reaction tubes containing SYBR Green spent as little time as possible in the light).

The PCR machine was run according to the following requirements, determined by initial experimentation using standard PCR machines: After initially heating the sample at 94°C for 10 minutes a cycle was followed which consisted of denaturation for 30 seconds at 94 °C, annealing for 40 seconds at 58 °C, and extension for 60 seconds at 72 °C. This cycle was repeated 60 times before the final extension phase took place, in which the sample was maintained at 72 °C for 10 minutes.

2.3. Creation of START::GFP Fusion Vectors

2.3.1. Cloning

2.3.1.1. Amplifying the genes

The *REV*, *PHB* and *GL2* genes weresupplied as cDNAs by Dr Topping (at 10ng μ l⁻¹). The full length *Revoluta* (*REV*) gene had previously been cloned into the TOPO vector in *E. coli* cells (strain JM109). The *Revoluta*–containing TOPO plasmid was sent for sequencing with the internal primers marked in the appendices. The sequence returned showed an open reading frame throughout, and displayed almost complete homology with the published sequence being used, and where any difference occurred it was consistent with a second published sequence (the 'table' for how the sequence lines up with both these published sequences may be seen in appendix C). The *Revoluta* cloning description from this point on shall be covered in section 2.3.2.

For each of the remaining genes, *Phabulosa* and *Glabra 2*, PCR was used to amplify the original template for use during the project. The primers used have been designed to amplify the genes with linkers to facilitate cloning into the GFP fusion vector, and restriction sites were incorporated into each primer at the 5' end to allow the amplified gene to be cloned into the vector.

Primers used for the reaction

Each of the primers was assigned a 'name' according to the following rules; FL (for amplifying the full-length gene as opposed to just the start domain), then the name of

the gene (e.g. *GL2* for *GLABRA 2*), pMPN-linkGFP (since the primer is designed to facilitate cloning into the pACN:GFP(N) construct) then whether the direction of the primer is forward or reverse, before finally stating which restriction enzyme has been added (in each primer here Sma I was used). These primers are listed in Table 3.

Primer Name	Sequence (3° to 5)
FL-GL2_pMPN-linkGFP(for)	TGCCCGGGATGTCAATGGCCGTCGACATGTCTTCCA
FL-GL2_pMPN-linkGFP(rev)	CCCCGGGCGCATGCAGCAATCTTCGATTTGTAGACTTCTC
FL-PHB_pMPN-linkGFP(for)	GCCCGGGATGATGATGGTCCATTCGATGAGCAGAG
FL-PHB_pMPN-imkGFP(rev)	GCCCGGGTCAAAGCAACGACCAATTCACGAACA

Table 3: Primers used for amplifying the *PHB* and *GL2* genes for full length cloning into the alcohol inducible vector. The table shows the sequences of the forward and reverse primers for each gene, with the Small restriction sites highlighted in blue.

PCR Protocol

The PCR protocol for amplifying the full length genes, including the restriction sites by which they are flanked, utilised the Expand High Fidelity PCR System (Roche see appendix C). The proofreading 3' to 5' exonuclease activity of the Expand enzyme ensures a higher degree of accuracy then many other enzymes (such as Taq polymerase), and therefore generates fewer errors during the reaction. The PCR solution used in each of the reactions can be seen in Table 4.

From Table 4 it is evident that the PCR solution would therefore have a final volume of 50μ l, with the addition of 0.5μ l of the Expand enzyme only after the rest of the PCR mix had been heated to 94° C in the PCR machine. This 'hot start' is required because the polymerase activity of Expand only occurs at this elevated temperature, whereas the

PCR Reaction Mix		
Component	Volume	
x10 Buffer (without MgCl ₂)	5µ1	
dNTPs (10mM)	1.5µ1	
Forward primer (20pM)	1.5µ1	
Reverse primer (20pM)	1.5µ1	
cDNA (10ng µl-1)	1µ1	
MgCl ₂ (25mM)	5µ1	
Sterile Water	34µ1	
Expand Enzyme	0.5µ1	

Table 4: The PCR solutions used when amplifying the full length *Phabulosa* and *Glabra 2* genes.

proofreading function may occur across a much wider range, therefore adding Expand

before the solution is heated would lead to denaturation of the DNA.

The PCR machine was run according to the following protocol: After initially heating the sample at 94°C for 10 minutes a cycle was followed which consisted of denaturation for 1 minute at 94 °C, annealing for 2 minutes at 55 °C, and extension for 5 minutes at 72 °C. This cycle was repeated 30 times before the final extension phase took place, in which the sample was maintained at 72 °C for 10 minutes. 5µl of the enzyme Taq polymerase was added to the solution for this final extension phase in order to add an A-overhang onto the DNA to facilitate cloning into the TOPO vector.

2.3.1.2. Cloning into TOPO vector

The TOPO vector (pCR[®]II-TOPO[®], Invitrogen ; shown in appendix B) is provided in a linearised form, with the enzyme DNA Topoisomerase I covalently bound, facilitating the ligation of complementary overhanging sequences. The linearised vector has a T-overhang which directly complements the A-overhang of the PCR products.

For each of GL2 and PHB the following mix was made: 0.5µl of PCR product was added to 3.5 µl sterile water 1µl MgCl2, and 1 µl TOPO cloning vector. This solution was left to incubate at room temperature for 30 minutes, before being returned to ice. Transformation of chemically competent *E.coli* cells (strain JM109, in tubes of approximately 300µl) began as 2µl of the cloning mix was added to a phial of cells, and the contents mixed gently. The cells were then incubated on ice for 30 minutes before being heat shocked at 42°C for 30 seconds and then returned to ice, at which point 250µl of liquid LB was added. The cells were then left to incubate for an hour at 37°C on a horizontal shaker before being spread onto plates containing kanamycin (to ensure only bacteria containing the TOPO plasmid would survive) and X-gal (to allow positive identification of cells which contained the START domain gene insert: colonies which would be white in colour as opposed to blue). Plates were then left overnight at 37°C to allow colonies to form.

2.3.1.3. Colony PCR

The following morning, after plates of transformed cells were left to incubate, colonies were tested to determine if they had taken up the gene of interest. Colony PCR was carried out on a sample of 20 colonies which appeared white or pale blue,

with a dark blue colony used as a negative control. The primers used for these colony PCR tests were those created for the real-time RT-PCR tests and are listed in Table 1. This and subsequent PCR tests were carried out using Taq polymerase (Promega) since a proofreading enzyme was not required.

Once these cycles had finished, 2μ l of loading dye was added to each tube and the samples were loaded onto an agarose gel to undergo electrophoresis. Once this process was completed, five of the colonies (for each gene) identified as containing the correct insert were chosen to be grown in an overnight culture. Each was added to 5ml of LB medium containing 5μ l of x1000 kanamycin stock. A flame-sterilised loop was used to lift bacteria from the colony into the culture medium, and the bacteria were then incubated overnight at 37° C on a shaker.

2.3.1.4. Plasmid Preps of Transformed Cells

In order to isolate the plasmids from the transformed bacteria, the Wizard[®] Plus DNA Purification System was used (Promega – see appendix C).

For each colony tested 1ml of overnight culture was placed in each of 4 eppendorphs, such that 4ml of culture was used per colony. The tubes were centrifuged at full power for 5 minutes so that a pellet formed. The supernatant was emptied and disposed of, and the pellet was tapped dry as much as possible.

To the first of the four eppendorph tubes (for a given colony's culture) was added 250μ l of resuspension solution, it was then mixed thoroughly so that the pellet was completely resuspended. The mix from the first eppendorph was then added to the second, third, and final eppendorphs, with this resuspension being repeated such that the fourth tube contained 250μ l resuspension solution along with the contents of the pellet from each eppendorph.

250µl lysis solution was then added to the mixture to break the cells open, the tube was inverted four times to mix. Then 10µl alkaline protease solution was added to break down cellular proteins, the mix was inverted four times before being left to incubate for 5 minutes. At the end of this incubation, 350µl of neutralisation solution
was added and the tube was inverted four times.

The solution was then centrifuged on full power for 10 minutes. The supernatant was then removed, without disturbing the pellet, and transferred to a spin column within a catch tube. This tube was then placed in a centrifuge on full power for 2 minutes, after which the flow-through was discarded. Into the spin column was then added 750µl column wash solution, before being centrifuged on full power for 1 minute. The flow-through was again discarded, and the wash repeated with 250µl column wash solution. Having emptied the through-flow, the tube was centrifuged whilst dry for 2 minutes.

For the final step, 50μ l nuclease-free water was added to the spin column which was then centrifuged on full power for 1 minute. The through-flow from this step is the plasmid itself, so it was stored at -20° C.

2.3.2. Cloning of HD-START domain genes into the binary vector

The *REVOLUTA* gene, as previously stated, had been amplified using the Expand High Fidelity PCR System – and found to have no amplification errors at an earlier date. It was, however, amplified with BamH1 linkers. Before cloning could proceed further *REVOLUTA* needed to be excised from the TOPO plasmid and have the Bam H1 linkers removed. To remove *REVOLUTA* the TOPO plasmid was digested with Bam H1 as follows: 1µl of 10x buffer (for use with Bam H1) was mixed with 2 µl sterile water, 6t µl TOPO plasmid, and 1 µl Bam H1. This mixture was maintained at 37° C in a water bath for 2 hours.

Mung Bean S1 Nuclease (Promega) was then used to remove the overhanging DNA ends. The procedure used was essentially the same as for the Bam H1 digest but tailored for Mung Bean S1 Nuclease. All digests used through this experiment were performed in the same way, with buffer and incubation temperature being altered to the enzyme used. Shrimp Dephosphorylase (Promega) was then used to treat the blunt ended DNA in order to facilitate ligation into the next vector, pACN. Since pMP Nlink GFP had been inserted into pACN to form pACN:GFP(N) the next step was to link *REVOLUTA* with pMP N-link GFP by inserting it into pACN at the SnaB1 site. This is a blunt-ended ligation, and the intention was then to excise the REV::pMP Nlink GFP fusion with Hind III in order to transfer it to pSRNACNbin. However, as shall be discussed in section 3.2., this objective proved unobtainable.

As shown previously (in Figure 3) both *Glabra 2* and *Phabulosa* contain internal Hind III sites which prevent them passing through the first stage of the binary vector system. It is for that reason that both genes need to be cloned directly into pSRNACNbin containing pMP N-tail GFP (pAIbinNGFP). Both of these genes were amplified with Sma I linkers, and both were added to pAIbinNGF at the Sna B1 site. This, as with *REVOLUTA*, is also a blunt-ended ligation.

For both of these blunt-ended ligations the enzyme T4DNA polymerase was used. This enzyme works at room temperature but works slowly. Therefore when cloning attempts were made the eppendorphs were left at room temperature on the bench overnight. As shall be described in section 3.2., these cloning reactions proved problematic, and were repeated often. In an attempt to increase vector take-up the vector mass:insert mass ratio was altered many times, ranging from 1:1 to 1:10.

When moving the DNA between vectors during this dissertation genes and constructs have, at times, needed to be excised from vectors and then isolated. In these situations the Roche High Pure® Purification kit for the purification of DNA from an electrophoresis gel was used.

2.3.3. DNA sequencing

All sequencing in this dissertation was carried out in the University of Durham DNA Sequencing Facility, using the ABI Prism 377 DNA sequencer.

2.4. Plant Preparation and Microscopy

2.4.1. Transformation and Growth of Agrobacterium

The method used in this project to transfer the desired vectors into *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* (strain C58C3) has been altered from that first described by Bechtold *et a.l* (Bechtold *et al.*, 1993). Cultures of *Agrobacterium* were grown in 200ml LB, in which their initial stage of growth occurred, and the medium contained nalidixic acid (at a concentration of 25 mg l^{-1}), streptomycin (at a concentration of 100 mg ml^{-1}), and kanamycin (at a concentration of 50 mg l^{-1}). Cultures were maintained at 30° C for between 40 and 48 hours whilst being shaken.

After two days of incubation at 30°C each culture tube was spun down in a cooled centrifuge until it formed a pellet. The supernatant was decanted and the pellet was resuspended in a 1 litre solution of sterile distilled water with a concentration of 5% sucrose, to which Silwett L-77 (Lehle Seeds) was added to a final concentration of 0.05%. This solution, once made, is ready for dipping instantly and cannot be kept.

2.2.2.1. Transformation of Plants

Young siliques and open flowers were trimmed from three week old *Arabidopsis* plants two days before dipping was due to take place (at roughly the same time as the initial *Agrobacterium* cultures were left at 30° C. These plants had been kept in a controlled *Arabidopsis* growth room (with warmer and more humid conditions than conventional greenhouses) during their development to ensure that no thick cuticles had formed and therefore dipping would be more likely to be successful. Each plant was dipped down into the *Agrobacterium* solution for approximately 20 seconds before being removed and placed away from the light in transparent platic bags (in order to create a humid environment for the *Agrobacterium*) overnight. The following morning plants were moved back into standard greenhouse conditions before the dipping process was repeated 7 days later. Thereafter the plants were kept permanently in standard greenhouse conditions and set seed. To facilitate seed collection the plants were placed in large transparent bags, also preventing cross contamination between other plants. Once the *Arabidopsis* plants had dried and turned

31

white in colour the seeds were harvested and left to dry for three weeks at 25°C.

2.2.2.1. Selection

When dry the seeds were sterilized and sown onto selective $\frac{1}{2}$ MS₁₀ media. The media contained kanamycin at a concentration of 35mg l⁻¹, to allow for selection for transformed plants, and vanomycin at 850mg l⁻¹ to stop the growth of *Agrobacterium* on the plant growth medium, which could quickly grow and overwhelm the seedlings. Those plants which survived the kanamycin selection and remained looking healthy were later planted up into growth pots in the greenhouse, and as they became mature and formed seed the siliques were opened and studied under a microscope. Those plants found to have homozygous *hydra* mutants amongst their progeny were noted, and those which appeared only to have wild type progeny were discarded as they were of no further use in this study.

2.2.2.1. Induction

Ethanol induction of chosen plants was carried out in three ways to see which obtained the better results. All plants were sealed in 3l containers. Some of the plants were induced by root drenching with 0.3% ethanol, however these showed no signs of fluorescence when examined by confocal laser scanning microscopy. Those plants which were treated by ethanol vapour, where a beaker containing 100ml of 70% ethanol was placed in the 3l container with them, all wilted within hours most died. Therefore induction by ethanol vapour did not prove to be effective in this case.

The method which was consequently used for all plants tested in this experiment was the induction of GFP expression by ethanol spray. A 0.5% ethanol spray was used until the solution began to run off the leaves, and tissue was then sampled at 3 hours, 6 hours, and 18 hours after induction. Samples were immediately taken to the microscopy room for confocal laser scanning microscopy studies and images were taken.

Part 3: Results

3. Results

3.1. Quantitation of RNA Levels by Real Time RT-PCR

The aim of the work described in this section was to determine whether the mRNA levels of START domain transcription factors, which variously regulate vascular tissue and leaf dorsiventral pattern, which are defective in the *hydra* mutants, is altered in these mutants. As described in sections 1.1.5 and 2.2, the quantitation of mRNA levels in *Arabidopsis* seedlings was tested across several different factors. Trends across time, individual START domain genes, and type of seedling (wild type, *hydra 2*, and *hydra 1-2*) would be too complex to discuss at once, so results obtained for each gene shall be examined before more general trends are addressed. There is, however, one important point of information which is required to understand more fully the forthcoming results: real time reverse-transcriptase PCR is a tool being used here to measure cDNA created from mRNA, so the levels detected and described here directly represent those of DNA transcribed into mRNA. A number of factors could affect what proportion of the mRNA was translated into protein, and the activity of any protein produced. It is for this reason that the mRNA levels (steady state transcription levels) described below represent only one facet of gene expression.

<u>ATML1</u>

When both the *hydra 2* and the *hydra 1-2* samples were tested with the primers for isolating AtML1 (as described for all genes in section 2.2), the steady state transcription level of *AtML1* was shown to decrease with time with respect to the wild type steady state transcription level (see Figure 5A). The steady state transcription levels in the *hydra 1-2* mutants declined from an initial high of 30% above wild type steady state transcription (at day 9 of development) to 13% below wild type at day 13. Therefore, through a developmental period spanning five days, the *AtML1* gene dropped from being clearly upregulated to downregulated as compared with wild type seedlings.

The most significant result for *AtML1* was however seen in the *hydra 2* mutants. In these the steady state transcription levels were found to be consistently below those shown in the wild type. At 9 days this apparent downregulation was at 19% below



the form of whole seedlings, and the level of mRNA was tested for specifically by realtime RT-PCR. Each data point for *hydra* 2 represents the mean of 12 samples, for *hydra* 1-2 it represents 4 samples. This figure shows data for the mRNA of; **A**) AtML1, **B**) PHB, C) GL2, **D**) PHV, **E**) REV, and **F**) ACT2.



Developing plants were sampled aged 9, 11, and 13 days. Tissue was taken for each in the form of whole seedlings, and the level of mRNA was tested for specifically by realtime RT-PCR. Each data point for *hydra* 2 represents the mean of 12 samples, for *hydra* 1-2 it represents 4 samples. This figure shows data for the mRNA of; **A)** AtML1, **B)** PHB, C) GL2, **D)** PHV, **E)** REV, and **F)** ACT2. wild type, however by day 13 this had fallen considerably to 72% below the wild type, meaning that steady state transcription levels were only a quarter of the value they would have been in a wild type *Arabidopsis* seedling. This downregulation clearly falls outside the standard deviation observed during the real time RT-PCR runs carried out for this experiment.

<u>PHB</u>

The pattern described above of the steady state transcription level in *hydra* mutants as compared with wild type over time, which was observed when studying *AtML1*, was very similar to that which emerged when samples were tested with the *PHB* primers: the steady state transcription levels all decrease with respect to wild type over time.

The *hydra 2* mutants show an initial upregulation of almost 40% compared to the wild type seedlings at day 9, but fall steadily (although more data points at intermediate times would be needed to prove this conclusively) until the final sample - at day 13 - was found to have 22% less *PHB* mRNA than the wild type. This matches quite closely with the actual numerical results of the *AtML1* steady state transcription in *hydra 1-2* mutants.

The most dramatic result of all those obtained for the START domain genes tested in this experiment was that of the level of steady state transcription of *PHB* in *hydra 1-2* mutants. At day 9 the level of mRNA in the *hydra 1-2* mutant seedlings was 359% that of the wild type plants, a 259% upregulation. This is clear evidence that *PHB* is upredulated during *hydra 1-2* development. Figure 5B also shows that this upregulation does not occur indefinitely: as with *hydra 2* by day 13 of development *PHB* mRNA levels may actually be downregulated compared to the wild type, however only by 14%.

<u>GL2</u>

Transcriptional analysis of the GL2 gene produced a different pattern of results. In the *hydra 2* mutants the steady state transcription levels for GL2 on days 9 and 11 were essentially the same as in wild type seedlings – with only 6% and 2% lower RNA levels measured with respect to the wild type, and falling well within the standard

variation exhibited in wild type seedlings (see Figure 5C). The only result which seemed indicative of abnormal gene mRNA levels was obtained for day 13, at which time steady state transcription was measured to be 14% lower than in wild type seedlings, though this value in itself was not significantly outside the standard range of error.

This pattern of almost constant steady state transcription levels with respect to the wild type through days 9 and 11, followed by a much larger drop in comparative steady state transcription was also evident in the *hydra 1-2* mutants. For these plants the pattern was exaggerated: the earlier stages (days 9 and 11) were upregulated, unlike in *hydra 2*, with 24% and 35% respectively greater steady state transcription than the wild type. However, by day 13 the steady state transcription level had fallen significantly with respect to the wild type, from 135% of the wild type mRNA levels to just 75%.

<u>PHV</u>

Perhaps the most intriguing result was obtained for the *PHV* gene. Instead of a general decrease of steady state transcription levels with respect to the wild type over time (as exhibited with each of the genes described so far) both the *hydra 2* and the *hydra 1-2* mutants showed a significant peak at day 11.

The steady state transcription level of *PHV* in *hydra 2* mutants at day 9 of development was essentially indistinguishable from that of wild type seedlings, whereas *hydra 1-2* mutants had 26% less PHV mRNA present than in the wild type. Two days later the mRNA levels of the *hydra 2* and *hydra 1-2* mutants with respect to wild type seedlings had drastically increased to 74% and 170% above the wild type value respectively. These are some of the most convincing results obtained in this experiment, falling clearly outside the standard deviation exhibited by wild type seedlings (see Figure 5D). However, as with *AtML1*, *PHB*, and *GL2* the results for day 13 of development indicate that the steady state transcription level with respect to the wild type seedlings again starts to fall, although it does not fall back to wild type levels in either of the *hydra* mutants.

<u>REV</u>

Another unusual result came from testing for levels of *REVOLUTA* mRNA over time, providing the only result for which the steady state transcription level appeared to increase towards day 13 of development with respect to wild type over time (see Figure 5E).

The *hydra 2* and *hydra 1-2* mutants remained consistently at or above the level of *revoluta* mRNA found in wild type seedlings. That is not, however, to say that their value with respect to the wild type remained constant. Both mutants exhibited a fall in comparative steady state transcription levels between days 9 and 11 of development, although this fall was more significant in *hydra 1-2* (from a 44% upregulation to a 32% upregulation) than in *hydra 2* (which fell from 12% upregulation to 6%; a small difference made even less notable by the error bars for these results, which show a large variability in the data concerned). Again the apparent increase in mRNA levels comparative to the wild type seedlings – which occurred between days 11 and 13 - was greater for the for the *hydra 1-2* mutants (increasing from 32% to 54% upregulation) than the *hydra 2* mutants, where the rise was comparatively small.

<u>ACT2</u>

As mentioned previously *ACT2*, a housekeeping gene, was used in this experiment as a positive control. The *ACT2* mRNA levels were measured in exactly the same manner as those HD-START domain genes discussed above in order to provide a 'standard' to which they may be compared.

The steady state transcription levels of *ACT2* were observed to differ far less from the levels found in wild type seedlings than any of the HD-START domain genes were. Five of the six data points shown in Figure 5F fell within the standard deviation exhibited by wild type seedlings (indicated by the dotted grey lines). The levels of mRNA in the *hydra 1-2* seedlings were again generally slightly greater with respect to the wild type seedlings than the *hydra 2* seedlings, but with all six data points falling between 3% below and 9% above wild type levels.

OVERALL TRENDS

Upon examining the data collected through real time reverse-transcriptase PCR (as described in section 2.2) some overall trends become apparent with regard to the *hydra* mutants themselves

The most noticeable and consistent result to emerge is that the pattern of upregulation and downregulation of START domain genes – as compared with levels measured in wild type seedlings – is the same across both *hydra 2* and *hydra 1-2* mutants for each of the genes tested. This is largely to be expected considering the relative positions of

the hydra 2 and hydra 1-2 mutations in the sterol pathway biosynthetic (as described in section 1.1.1.3). However. what was unexpected was the difference observed between the results for the hydra 2 and hydra 1-2 mutants with each gene tested. Table 5 is a table showing, for ease of reference, the greatest and lowest level of mRNA as a percentage of the wild type for both of the hydra mutants with each of the genes tested. From this table it is evident that

Sample		mRNA Level (as a % above or below the Wild Type)		
Gene	Mutant	Highest Level	Lowest Level	
AfML1	Hydra 1-2	+29	-13	
	Hydra 2	-11	-72	
GL2	Hydra 1-2	+35	-25	
	Hydra 2	-2	-14	
PHB	Hydra I-2	+259	-14	
	Hydra 2	+38	-22	
PHV	Hydra 1-2	+170	-26	
	Hydra 2	+174	2	
REV	Hydra 1-2	+54	+32	
	Hydra 2	+17	+6	

Table 5: Table showing the greatest and least level of mRNA (as a percentage above or below the wild type) for each of the five START domain genes tested by real-time RT-PCR. Data for the hydra 1-2 and hydra 2 mutants has been separated in order to highlight their differences. For each gene the values for the hydra mutant which displayed the greatest range of results have been highlighted in bold.

whereas both *hydra* mutants follow the same pattern of upregulation and downregulation through time for each gene tested, the *hydra 1-2* mutant plants are displaying a more exaggerated version of the patterns observed in the *hydra 2* mutants. The only gene for which this was not the case was *AtML1*.

3.2. Creation of START::GFP Constructs

3.2.1. Cloning of START::GFP Fusion into alc System Vectors

The aim of this part of the project was to construct translational fusions between START domain proteins and GFP, for future localization studies in wild-type and sterol mutant plants. The cloning of *REV*, *PHB*, and *GL2* was carried out exactly as detailed in section 2.3. *Revoluta* was successfully cloned into TOPO with the linkers ready for insertion into the pACN vector containing the pMP N-link GFP. *Phabulosa* and *Glabra 2* were successfully cloned into TOPO with the linkers which would be required for their insertion into the pAIbin GFP binary vector (since, as stated in section 1.2.1.3, their internal Hind III sites precluded them from first being cloned into the pACN vector).

However, cloning was unable to progress successfully beyond this stage. Repeated attempts were made throughout the year; however in each case those vectors which had taken up the insert had done so in the incorrect orientation. It was also noted that the colonies were very slow-growing – requiring at least two full days at 37° C to reach the size ordinarily expected from overnight incubation at the same temperature. – and initially few colonies formed on each plate (typically about six were present). In order to increase the number of colonies per plate in subsequent cloning attempts 700µl of culture were spun down, the majority of the supernatant was removed, and the cells were resuspended in 150µl of LB medium. This enabled more colonies to be tested per plate but was to no avail: *GL2* and *PHB* cloning failed (due to being in the incorrect orientation) 243 and 251 times respectively, and *REV* was cloned backwards a total of 312 times. During the course of the year the experimental procedure was varied to ensure that it had no impact upon the cloning outcome, this included changing the *E. coli* cells used; using, amongst others, DH5 α , TOP10, TOP1-F' (with IPTG), and XL Blue cells.

3.3. Microscopy

3.3.1. START::GFP Fusions and Fluorescence Microscopy

Since the START::GFP fusions could not be created, *Arabidopsis* plants containing these genes evidently could not be tested. Therefore the subcellular localisation of START domain proteins could not be examined using confocal scanning fluorescence microscopy. However, since the GFP due to be used in this experiment (pMP N-link GFP, described in section 1.2.1) is a new, experimental form, this opportunity was used to test the functionality of the GFP construct itself: essentially running the experiment purely to observe the positive control. Having transformed *Arabidopsis* pants using the pSRNACbin vector containing only the pMP GFP construction (i.e. pAIbin GFP), the remainder of the experiment was carried out as planned.

The time taken for the presence of fluorescing GFP to be evident under the fluorescence microscope varies greatly depending upon the specific GFP used in the experiment as well as the genes in question. Therefore since this is an experimental GFP which had not yet been tested, determining the most suitable time frame for fluorescence to be detected would still be worthwhile. After testing for fluorescence at 3 hours, 6 hours, and 18 hours it became evident that result could be best obtained 18 hours after induction (with samples taken at earlier times exhibiting no determinable differences to the negative control).

Figure 6 shows confocal scanning fluorescence microscopy images of root tissue in both a negative control plant (A) and an mpGFP-containing plant sampled at five days old. Images B to D show the roots of plants containing pMP N-linked GFP before induction, 3 hours after induction, and 18 hours after induction. These images show that GFP is fluorescing strongly at the edges of cells, indicating its presence in the cytoplasm around the large vacuoles found in root cells; as would be expected for GFP constitutively expressed under the CaMV35S promoter. This evidence is further supported by the strong result of the negative control, indicating that the GFP visible in the images taken could not simply be the result of autofluorescence. It is therefore reasonable to conclude that the pMP N-linked GFP functions correctly.



(A) Negative Control

(B) pMP N-link GFP before induction





(C) pMP N-link GFP 3 hours after induction (D) pMP N-link GFP 18 hours after induction

Figure 6 : Confocal scanning laser microscopy images used to capture GFP. Unfortunately only the positive control was able to be tested, however the data provided has still proven to be useful. Images show *Arabidopsis* root tissue in a negative control plant which contains no GFP (A) which may be compared with the image of a GFP positive plant before ethanol induction (B) indicating that the expression of the alcohol inducible vector is not 'leaky'. GFP positive tissue 3 hours (C) and 18 hours (D) after ethanol induction together indicate show the time delay between induction and GFP detectable expression. (D) Also shows, by clear GFP expression in the cytoplasm surrounding the root cell vacuoles, that pMP N-link GFP functions correctly.

Part 4: Discussion

4. Discussion

It was hypothesised that the binding of sterols to the START domain of various genes enabled those genes to be targeted to the nucleus of a cell, to enable the transcription of genes essential for normal plant development. It was further hypothesised that the essential START domain protein genes themselves may be mis-regulated in steroldeficient mutants, to produce the defective development seen. Such hypotheses are supported by the highly complex phenotypes of sterol mutants: for processes across such a wide range to be affected (multiple cotyledons, a lack of truly discrete vascular tissue, etc.) it is unlikely that the sole cause is abnormal membrane fluidity caused by deficient sterols, though this is still a likely important component of sterol function.

Studies have shown that START domains are important in transport and synthesis of sterols and those structures which have been elucidated are also suggestive of this (Tsujishita and Hurley, 2000). This is however, not the only possible mechanism by which nuclear localisation could occur; many other different proteins could be involved in this process. The hypothesis of how the START domain functions would provide an elegant mechanism by which this control could be mediated. Though it has not been expressly shown that sterols do bind to plant START domain transcription factors in this way, a body of evidence suggests this to be the case in mammalian systems (Christensen and Straus, 2001), and the archetypal protein STaR binds plant sterols (Kallen *et al.* 1998).

4.1. Creation of START::GFP Fusion Proteins

The aim of the GFP studies in this dissertation was to attach a reporter (GFP) to several START domain proteins, and then induce expression of those proteins in a living plant. In this way the subcellular localisation of START domain proteins could be viewed, catalogued, and compared between wild type plants and those with a *hydra* mutant background. Unfortunately the formation of START::GFP fusion proteins could not be completed, although the concept still has enormous potential.

It would be beneficial if GFP fusions could be made with the full length START domain proteins, thus it could be determined whether the presence of sterols

correlated with the nuclear localisation of the transcription factors studied, and if defective sterol backgrounds correlated with a lack of nuclear localisation. This experimental model could also be improved by incorporating the native promoters for each gene into the constructs, preventing the constitutive expression shown by the CaMV35S promoter. Genes with mutations in their START domain could also be introduced and linked with GFP in the same way. Confocal microscopy could be used to determine what effect, if any, this had on the subcellular localisation of the genes in question. Another approach to this study would be to identify any ligands for plant START domains, as they have thus far not been absolutely identified (Schrick *et al.* 2004).

Typically the inability to insert a gene in the correct orientation could be presumed to be a direct consequence of the inserted gene, when expressed, having such a deleterious effect upon the bacterium that it causes death and therefore no colony is formed from which a sample may be taken. Such toxicity of the inserted DNA would result in the data presented: low plasmid take-up, with those plasmids which have been multiplied containing the gene in an inexpressible form (i.e. 'backwards'). Although the use of the *alc* system was to ensure that the presence of alcohol was an essential component in initiating expression in plants, some leaky expression in bacteria may have been sufficient to induce toxic effects. Even if this were the case then due to the number of colonies tested the expression would have to be unstable enough to be fatal to every single bacterium which took it up. However, this hypothesis could be disproven by examining the results shown in section 3.3.1 (specifically those depicted in Figure 6, A and D). The positive control – GFP under the alcohol inducible promoter as these constructs would have been – was examined before induction and showed no visible signs of expression, appearing essentially indistinguishable from the negative control. Since 'leaky' expression would have been made manifest in the form of fluorescence it may be assumed that the alcohol inducibility of the promoter is functioning effectively in bacteria.

In a situation where a correctly functional and previously proven system, which should be able to contain a construct that is not expressed unless a foreign chemical (alcohol) is present, proves incapable of being cloned, suspicion is then drawn to the earlier stages of the experiment. Firstly, it could not be possible for the primers attached to the genes to be influencing the orientation of the inserted DNA because all ligations used at this failed stage are blunt-ended (for full details see section 2.3.2). This considered, could the inserted DNA have been from the TOPO plasmid (or some other DNA) instead of the desired gene? This is impossible as every stage of the cloning acts as a checkpoint to determine the 'identity' of the insert as it is brought through the experimental process. The cDNA originally used was amplified with gene-specific primers and shown by gel electrophoresis to produce a DNA product of the correct size. When colony PCR testing was carried out a completely unrelated set of gene-specific primers was used to determine whether or not each specific HD-START domain gene was there (the real-time RT-PCR primers were used). Diagnostic digests indicated which specific START domain genes were present, and the actual sequencing data (used to check the orientation of the insert) clearly shows the genes to be present but in 'reverse'.

Therefore there is apparently no obvious explanation as to why the START domain genes would only be able to be inserted into the alcohol inducible vectors in the incorrect orientation, although the probability of the obtained results being down to chance is so low as to be negligible. Therefore there are evidently unidentified factors influencing the ability to clone these START::GFP fusions into the alc system, however it would likely be inefficient to investigate them further at this time when other lines of investigation are still available through which to glean more valuable information about the roles of sterols and START domain genes in plant development.

4.2. Real-time RT-PCR Assays

Although the real-time RT-PCR studies proved more successful than the HD-START domain gene cloning, the results are difficult to interpret. The aim of the real-time RT-PCR studies was to obtain more evidence to help determine if the expression of the START domain transcription factors is mis-regulated in sterol-defective mutants. The real-time RT-PCR assays provided valuable data on the difference in steady state transcription levels of five HD-START domain genes in both the *hydra 2* and the

hydra 1-2 mutants as compared with the wild type Arabidopsis plants.

The results provide evidence that the mRNA levels of the studied genes can vary greatly from those exhibited in the wild type, the greatest example being that of the observed steady state transcription level of *PHABULOSA* on day 9 of development in *hydra 1-2*, which showed *PHB* RNA levels 359% that of the wild type. For other genes, the differences were less dramatic, but were still significant, particularly when contrasted with the results for the positive control (housekeeping gene *ACT2*).

Therefore it is evident that the study of these steady state transcription levels did provide some evidence that defective sterol profiles of *hydra* mutants have an effect on the levels of mRNA present for the START domain proteins. The experiment also posed some questions: if the *hydra* mutants are similar enough consistently to exhibit the same pattern of upregulation and downregulation with time then why does *hydra 1-2*, the mutation further downstream in the sterol biosynthesis pathway, exhibit a more exaggerated pattern of differences in START domain gene steady state transcription levels than *hydra* 2? Moreover, a key question is, what is the biological basis, if any, for the observed mis-regulation?

One possibility is that the *hydra 1-2* mutation itself has a greater effect than the *hydra 2* mutation either directly upon START domain gene transcription or indirectly influences transcription by affecting other molecules involved in transcriptional regulation. This is somewhat unexpected, since the *hydra 1-2* mutation is located downstream of the *hydra 2* mutation in the sterol biosynthetic pathway (see Figure 1), which would might lead us to the assumption that it would have a lesser effect on the seedling. In addition, the phenotypes of the *hydra* mutants are very similar; this again could be anticipated due to the proximity in which the individual mutations occur. This in turn makes it seem unlikely that two such closely related mutations could cause the transcription of genes - themselves implicated in the control of transcription - to differ as shown. Further to this it must still be remembered that mRNA levels are not synonymous with gene expression, and that any manner of other factors could be affecting the actual expression of these START domain genes both before and after transcription. However, it is possible that the observed different sterol profiles in the *hydra1-2* mutants (Souter *et al.* 2002) could be sufficient to affect

differentially the transcription of key transcription factors, such as those shown. The biological basis for this remains unclear, but given the defective hormone signalling, tissue organization and differentiation processes seen in these mutants, the disruption of gene transcription is not unexpected. For example, the observed down-regulation of *AtML1*, a gene expressed in the epidermal layers of the seedling, in *hyd2* may be the consequence of the observed defective differentiation of the epidermis in at least some *hyd2* plants (Topping *et al.* 1997; Souter *et al.* 2002). There is currently no information on the transcriptional control of the START domain protein genes by hormones.

In order to be convinced of the results obtained thus far it would be greatly beneficial if these real-time RT-PCR studies were to be repeated with additional samples. This would ensure that the observed trends discussed here are truly representative of the mRNA levels typically present in the *hydra* mutant seedlings. In addition, the data as collected in the course of this experiment cannot be used to identify the cause of these changes in steady state transcription levels. To tackle this and further elucidate the mechanisms and processes involved, further avenues of research must be followed (some are discussed in section 4.3)

Quality and Reliability of Results

When analysing the data obtained through real time RT-PCR the quality of the results themselves cannot be ignored. Indeed, the tentative conclusions drawn above could be rendered unusable if the quality of the data gathered is in dispute.

What is most noticeable about the results as they have been presented so far are the unexpectedly large variations in the individual results obtained, depicted graphically as the large error bars visible on Figure 5. This degree of variability amongst the results could suggest that the experiment was less precise than it should have been (and therefore, by extension, less reliable) however several key points when considered together are indicative of a different and altogether more positive explanation.

Firstly, were the large variations in the obtained results due to poor experimental procedure, low quality samples, or poorly optimised PCR conditions, the effect would

surely be that all data obtained shared large error bars. Whilst it is true that some of the data points are flanked by these large error bars this is not always the case. Not only are there many data points for HD-START domain genes which display comparatively very little variation (such as; *GL2, hydra 2*, day 13 and *REV, hydra 1-2*, day 13 – both in Figure 5) but the data obtained for the positive control, housekeeping gene *ACT2*, was consistently flanked by comparatively very small errors. These small standard deviations appear to indicate that the experiment itself is robust and the results simply reflect the differing levels of variation between samples. Furthermore, such variation is in itself cause for additional examination.

The most noticeable pattern to emerge when analysing the standard deviations is that they varied in an almost characteristic pattern according to whether the variation was for wild type, hydra 2, or hydra 1-2 samples. The standard deviation amongst the results obtained for wild type seedlings averaged at 7% above or below the total mRNA content determined by real-time RT-PCR. This is demonstrated in Figure 5, A-F as the broken lines above and below the 100% mark as shown on the y-axes, and was almost invariably lower than the standard deviations for the hydra mutant results for any given test. In the majority of the real time RT-PCR runs the samples with the next greatest standard deviation in their results were the hydra 2 mutants (with an average of 10% above and below) and the samples exhibiting the greatest standard deviation were the hydra 1-2 mutants. It could be hypothesised that, since the hydra mutants by their highly variable phenotypes (Topping et al. 1997; Schrick et al. 2000, Souter et al. 2002) appear to indicate unpredictable changes in the levels and timing of gene transcription to a degree, greater variability in the actual levels of mRNA between samples would be anticipated. Although such variability would be minimised (and therefore produce smaller error bars) were all the samples of hydra 2 or of hydra 1-2 seedling RNA to be mixed before being dispensed into aliquots for each PCR run, this would simply mask the variability of the data, and knowledge of this variability is essential when analysing both the nuances and reliability of the results.

In the case of the *hydra 1-2* mutants the increased proportion of error inherent in the results may be a direct consequence of the smaller sample size drawn upon for real time RT-PCR studies (it was mentioned in section 2.2.1 that the *hydra 1-2* seeds had a lower germination frequency than the *hydra 2* seeds and therefore only a third as

many samples were able to be tested). Strength is added to this argument by the knowledge that the variation for *hydra 1-2* seedlings was slightly greater than for the *hydra 2* seedlings even for *ACT2*. Therefore, although several patterns have emerged from which it is possible to draw conclusions, the often large standard errors must still be considered when analysing the data.

In summary, data have been obtained that suggest that the expression of key transcription factors of the START domain family are mis-regulated in sterol-defective mutants. Given the phenotypes of the *hydra* mutants, this may be the consequence of the observed defects in hormone signalling, tissue specification and tissue patterning, which might be expected to affect transcriptional profiles, in a way that would be expected to be independent of a direct role for sterols in the control of gene regulation The data for ACT2 has demonstrated that this differential profile of mRNA levels in the *hydra* mutants is not common to all genes, thereby adding to the evidence suggesting a specific role for genes which utilise sterols. Another possible explanation for these patterns of differences is that, as stated previously, different sterol profiles within each of the mutants may in turn affect some sterol-dependant processes differently. It was not possible to determine more direct possible roles for sterols in transcription factor localization, and this should be the subject of future studies.

4.3. Directions for Future Research

An obvious direction for future work would be the completion of GFP::START domain protein construction, although evidently the experimental protocol suggested here will need to be re-examined. Once created these fusion proteins could be tested *in vivo* not only in the *hydra* mutants but in other sterol defective mutants. In this way more evidence regarding the subcellular localisation of START domain proteins could be obtained, allowing more definite conclusions regarding the role of sterols in START domain protein localisation.

This aim could be further investigated by the creation of START::GFP fusion proteins

in which the START domain itself has been altered by site-directed mutagenesis. Confocal scanning laser microscopy could then be used to examine the effect this would have upon subcellular localisation of the protein. In this way the necessity of the putative sterol-binding domain in subcellular localisation may be both determined and observed across both the wild-type and sterol deficient plants.

In order to obtain more definitive results it would be beneficial both to calculate a more accurate average by continuing experiments in this way, and to determine if the observed variation is indeed a result of variations in gene transcription levels and timing between individual *hydra* mutants. The former would provide a more accurate average by increasing the sample size, and could only be improved by also testing with a more sensitive PCR method. The latter would, however, prove more challenging as ideally RNA extractions should be carried out on individual mutants, and would also obviously not permit comparisons across time for individual plants, since RNA extraction is a destructive process. Further to this approach the data obtained through the real-time RT-PCR assays could be validated by visualising gene expression in *hydra* mutants. This may be done either by using *in situ* mRNA localisation, or by carrying out promoter::GUS fusion analyses of the HD-START domain protein genes.

An invaluable line of research would be, as suggested previously, the identification of those ligands which bind to the sterol binding domains in the genes tested. Moving away from those avenues of research dealt with directly during this project a range of other approaches could be used, including determining the extent to which the transport mechanisms of the mutant seedlings are affected (as is evidenced by the lack of response to the exogenous application of BRs, shown by Topping *et al.*, 1997).

A combination of these and other studies in the future may prove invaluable in fully characterising the effect of sterol mutations upon plant development. In furthering the bodies of evidence regarding both the transcriptional regulation and the subcellular localisation of START domain proteins across wild type and sterol deficient plants this aim may begin to be achieved.

5. References

- Alpy, F., Tomasetto, C. (2005) Give lipids a START: the StAR-related lipid transfer (START) domain in mammals. *Journal of Cell Science* 118: 2791-2801
- Bechtold N., Ellis J. and Pelletier G. (1993) In planta Agrobacterium mediated gene transfer by filtration of adult Arabidopsis thaliana plants. *CR Acad. Sci.* (*Paris*), **316:**, 1194–1199
- Bishop, J.G., and Yokota, T. (2001) Plants Steroid Hormones,
 Brassinosteroids: Current Highlights of Molecular Aspects on their
 Synthesis/Metabolism, Transport, Perception and Response . *Plant and Cell Physoilogy* 42 (2): 114-120
- Bustin, S.A. (2002) Absolute quantification of mRNA using real time reversetranscriptase polymerase chain reaction assays. *Journal of Molcular Endocrinology.* 25: 169-193
- 5 Caddick, Greenland AJ, Jepson I, Krause K-P, Qu N, Riddell KV, Salter MG, Schuch W, Sonnewald U, Tomsett AB (1998) An ethanol inducible gene switch for plants: manipulation of carbon metabolism. *Nature Biotechnol* 16: 177–180
- 6 Caño-Delgado, A., Yin, Y., Yu, C., Vafeados, D., Mora-García, S., Cheng, J., Nam, K.H., Li, J., and Chory, J. (2004) BRL1 and BRL3 are novel brassinosteroid receptors that function in vascular differentiation in *Arabidopsis. Development* 131: 5341-5351
- 7 Choe, S., Noguchi, T., Fujioka, S., Takatsuto, S., Tissier, C.P., Gregory, B.D., Ross, A.S., Tanaka, A., Yoshida, S., Tax, F.E., and Feldmann, K.A. (1999). The *Arabidopsis dwf7/ste1* mutant is defective in the _7 sterol C-5 desaturation step leading to brassinosteroid synthesis. *Plant Cell* 11: 207–221
- 8 Christensen LK, Strauss JF III (2001) Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein: an update in its regulation and mechanism of action. Archives of Mecial Research 32: 576-586
- 9 Chudakov D, Lukyanov S, Lukyanov K (2005). Fluorescent proteins as a toolkit for in vivo imaging. *Trends Biotechnol* **23 (12):** 605–13
- 10 Clouse, S.D., Sasse, J.M. (1998) BRASSINOSTEROIDS: essential regulators of plant growth and development. *Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol* 49:

427–451

- 11 Clouse, S.D. (2000) Plant development: a role for sterols in embryogenesis. *Curr. Biol.* 10: R601–R604
- 12 Diener A.C., Li H., Zhou W., Whoriskey W.J., Nes W.D., Fink G.R. (2000)
 Sterol methyltransferase 1 controls the level of cholesterol in plants. *Plant Cell*12: 853-870
- 13 Dussossoy, D., Carayon, P., Belugou, S., Feraut, D., Bord, A., Goubet, C., Roque, C., Vidal, H., Combes, T., Loison, G., and Casellas, P. (1999).
 Colocalization of sterol isomerase and sigma1 receptor at endoplasmic reticulum and nuclear envelope level. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 263: 377–385
- 14 Felenbok, B, Sequeval D, Mathieu M, Sibley S, Gwynne DI, Davies RW (1988) The ethanol regulon of *Aspergillus nidulans*: characterisation and sequence of the positive regulatory gene alcR. *Gene* 73: 386–396
- 15 Gachotte D, Husselstein T, Bard M, Lacroute F, and Benveniste P (1996)
 Isolation and characterization of an Arabidopsis thaliana cDNA encoding a delta 7-sterol-C-5-desaturase by fun functional complementation of a defective yeast mutant. *The Plant journal : for cell and molecular biology* 9(3):391-8
- 16 Gatz, C. (1997) Chemical control of gene expression. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Mol Biol 48: 89–108
- 17 Grebenok, R.J., Ohnmeiss, T.E., Yamamoto A., Huntley, E.D., Galbraith, D.W., and Della Penna, D. (1998). Isolation and characterization of an *Arabidopsis thaliana* C-8,7 sterol isomerase: Functional and structural similarities to mammalian C-8,7 sterol isomerase/emopamil-binding protein. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 38: 807–815
- 18 Hartmann, M.A. (1998). Plant sterols and the membrane environment. *Trends Plant Sci.* 3: 170–175
- 19 Jang J.C., Fujioka S., Tasaka M., Seto H., Takatsuto S., Ishii A., Aida M., Yoshida S., Sheen J. (2000) A critical role of sterols in embryonic patterning and meristem programming revealed by the *fackel* mutants of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Genes Dev.* 14: 1485-1497
- 20 Jblio O., et al. (1997). Purification and characterization of the human SR
 31747A- binding protein: A nuclear membrane protein related to yeast sterol isomerase. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 27107–27115
- 21 Jepson I, Martinez A, Sweetman JP (1998) Chemical inducible gene expression

systems for plants. Pestic Sci 56: 360-367

- 22 Kallen C, Billheimer JT, Summers , Stayrook SE, Lewis M, Strauss JF III (1998) Steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) is a sterol transfer protein. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 26285-26288
- 23 McConnell JR, Emery J, Eshed Y, Bao N, Bowman J, Barton K (2001) Role of *PHABULOSA* and *PHAVOLUTA* in determining radial patterning in shoots. *Nature* 411: 709–713
- 24 Murashige, T. and Skoog, F. (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassas with tobacco tissue cultures *Physiol Plant* **15(3)**: 473-497
- 25 Mukherjee, K., Burglin, T.R. (2006) MEKHLA, a novel domain with similarity to PAS domains, is fused to plant homeodomain-leucine zipper III proteins *Plant Physiol* 140: 1142-11550
- 26 Nakamura, M., Katsumata, H., Abe, M., Yabe, N., Yamamoto, K.T., Takahashi, T. (2006) Characterization of the Class IV Homeodomain-Leucine Zipper Gene Family in *Arabidosis*. *Plant Physiol* 141: 1363-1375
- 27 Nemhauser, J.L., Mockler, T.C. Chory J (2004) Interdependency of
 Brassinosteroid and Auxin Signaling in *Arabidopsis*. *PLoS Biol* 2(9): e258
- 28 Orrico A, Galli L, Cavaliere ML, et al (2004). "Phenotypic and molecular characterisation of the Aarskog-Scott syndrome: a survey of the clinical variability in light of FGD1 mutation analysis in 46 patients". *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 12 (1): 16–23
- 29 Pateman J.H., Doy, C.H., Olson, J.E., Norris, U., Creaser, E.H. and Hynes, M. (1983) Regulation of alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) and aldehyde dehydrogenase (AldDH) in *A. nidulans. Proc. Roy Soc. Lond B*, 217: 243–264
- 30 Ponting C.P., Aravind L. (1999) START: a lipid-binding domain in StAR, HD-ZIP and signalling proteins. *Trends Biochem Sci* **24**: 130-132
- 31 Prasher D, Eckenrode V, Ward W, Prendergast F, Cormier M (1992). Primary structure of the Aequorea victoria green-fluorescent protein. *Gene* 111 (2): 229–233
- Prigge, M.J., Otsuga, D, Alonso, JM, Ecker, JR, Drews, GN, Clark, SE.
 (2005) Class III homeodomainleucine zipper gene family members have overlapping, antagonistic, and distinct roles in *Arabidopsis* development.
 Plant Cell 17: 61-76
- 33 Rajakumar, K., Greenpan, S.L., Thomas, S.B., Holick, M.F. (2007) Solar

ultraviolet radiation and vitamin D: a historical perspective. Am. J. Public Health 97 (10) 1746:1754

- 34 Rychlik W, Spencer WJ & Rhoads RE 1990 Optimization of the annealing temperature for DNA amplification *in vitro*. *Nucleic Acids Research* 18 6409– 6412.
- 35 Sablowski RWM, Meyerowitz EM (1998) A homolog of NO APICAL MERISTEM is an immediate target of the floral homeotic genes APETALA3/PISTILLATA. Cell 92: 93–103
- 36 Salter MG, Paine JA, Riddell KV, Jepson I, Greenland AJ, Caddick MX, Tomsett AB (1998) Characterisation of the ethanol-inducible alc gene expression system for transgenic plants. *Plant J* 16: 127–132
- 37 Sambrook, J., Russel D.W. (2001). Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual
 3rd Ed. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- 38 Schaeffer, A., Bronner, R., Benveniste, P., and Schaller, H. (2001). The ratio of campesterol to sitosterol that modulates growth in *Arabidopsis* is controlled by STEROL METHYLTRANSFERASE 2;1. *Plant J.* 25: 605–615
- 39 Schrick, K., Mayer U., Horrichs A., Kuhnt C., Bellini C., Dangl J., Schmidt J., Jurgens G. (2000) FACKEL is a sterol C-14 reductase required for organized cell division and expansion in *Arabidopsis* embryogenesis.*Genes Dev* 14: 1471-1484
- 40 Schrick, K., Mayer U., Martin G., Bellini C., Kuhnt C., Schmidt J., Jurgens G.
 (2002) Interactions between sterol biosynthesis genes in embryonic development of *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J* 31: 61-73
- 41 Schrick K, Nguyen D, Karlowski WM, Mayer KF (2004) START lipid/sterol binding domains are amplified in plants and are predominantly associated with homeodomain transcription factors. *Genome Biol* **5:** R41
- 42 Sealy-Lewis HM, Lockington RA (1984) Regulation of two alcohol dehydrogenases in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Curr Genet 8: 253–259
- 43 Shimomura O, Johnson F, Saiga Y (1962). Extraction, purification and properties of aequorin, a bioluminescent protein from the luminous hydromedusan, *Aequorea*. J Cell Comp Physiol 59: 223–39.
- 44 Souter M, Topping J, Pullen M, Friml J, Palme K, Hackett R, Grierson D, Lindsey K (2002) *hydra* Mutants of *Arabidopsis* are defective in sterol profiles and auxin and ethylene signaling. *Plant Cell* 14: 1017-1031

- 45 Southern, E. M. (1979). Measurement of DNA length by gel electrophoresis. Analytical Biochemistry **100**: 319-323
- Szekeres, M., Nemeth, K., Koncz-Kalman, Z., Mathur, J., Kauschmann, A., Altmann, T., Redei, G.P., Nagy, F., Schell, J., and Koncz, C. (1996).
 Brassinosteroids rescue the deficiency of CYp90, a cytochrome P450, controlling cell elongation and de-etiolation in *Arabidopsis*. Cell 85, 171–182
- 47 Topping, J.F., May, V.J., Muskett, P.R., and Lindsey, K. (1997). Mutations in the HYDRA1 gene of Arabidopsis perturb cell shape and disrupt embryonic morphogenesis. Development 124: 4415–4424
- 48 Tsien, R (1998). The green fluorescent protein. *Annu Rev Biochem* 67: 509–544
- 49 Tsujishita, Y. and Hurley, J. H. (2000). Structure and lipid transport mechanism of a StAR-related domain. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 7: 408-414
- 50 Voss-Andreae, J (2005). Protein Sculptures: Life's Building Blocks Inspire Art. Leonardo 38: 41–45
- 51 Yuste, R. (2005). Fluorescence microscopy today. Nat Methods 2 (12): 902–904
- 52 Zipper, H., Brunner, H., Bernhagen, J., and Vitzthum, F. (2004) Investigations on DNA intercalation and surface binding by SYBR Green I, its structure determination and methodological implications. *Nucleic Acids Research* 32(12): e103
- 53 Zuo J, Chua N-H (2000) Chemical-inducible systems for regulated expression of plant genes. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* **11:** 146–151

Appendices

6. Appendices

6.1. Appendix A – Sequences

- ✤ AtML1 cDNA Sequence
- ✤ GL2 cDNA Sequence
- ✤ PHB cDNA Sequence
- ✤ PHV cDNA Sequence
- ✤ REV cDNA Sequence
- REV Amplified Sequence Aligned with cDNA Sequence and TAIR
 Sequence

AtML1 cDNA Sequence

ATGTATCATCCAAACATGTTCGAATCTCATCATCATATGTTCGATATGACG CCGAAAAACTCCGAAAACGATTTGGGTATCACCGGGAGCCACGAAGAGG ATTTCGAGACTAAGTCCGGCGCAGAAGTCACCATGGAGAATCCTTTAGAA GAAGAGCTTCAAGATCCTAATCAGCGTCCCAACAAAAAGAAGCGTTACCA CCGTCACACACAACGCCAGATTCAAGAGCTAGAGTCGTTCTTCAAGGAAT GTCCTCATCCAGACGATAAGCAAAGAAAGGAGCTGAGTCGCGAGCTAAG GAAGGCACAACATGAGAGGCACGAGAACCAGATACTGAAGTCAGAAAAT GACAAGCTCCGAGCAGAGAACAATAGGTACAAGGATGCTCTAAGCAACG CAACATGCCCAAACTGTGGTGGTCCGGCAGCTATAGGAGAAATGTCCTTC GACGAACAGCATTTAAGGATCGAAAATGCTCGTTTACGCGAAGAGATTGA CAGAATCTCTGCCATAGCTGCTAAATACGTAGGGAAGCCTTTAATGGCTA ATTCCTCTTCTTCCCTCAGCTCTCTTCTTCACACCACATTCCCTCGCGCTC GCTTGATCTTGAAGTTGGGAACTTTGGGAACAATAACAATAGCCACACTG GTTTCGTTGGGGGAAATGTTTGGAAGCAGCGACATTTTGAGGTCGGTTTCGA TACCTTCTGAGGCTGATAAGCCTATGATTGTTGAGTTAGCTGTTGCAGCAA TGGAAGAGCTTGTGAGAATGGCTCAAACTGGTGATCCCTTATGGGTTTCA AGCGATAATTCTGTTGAGATTCTCAATGAAGAAGAGTATTTTAGGACGTTT CCTAGAGGAATTGGACCGAAACCTATCGGTTTGAGATCAGAAGCTTCAAG AGAGTCTACTGTTGTTATCATGAATCATATCAATCTCATTGAGATTCTAAT GGATGTGAATCAATGGTCTAGTGTGTTCTGCGGGATTGTATCAAGAGCATT GACTCTAGAAGTTCTCTCAACTGGCGTAGCAGGGAACTACAATGGGGCAT TGCAAGTGATGACAGCAGAGTTCCAAGTCCCATCGCCGCTTGTCCCTACTC GTGAGAACTACTTTGTAAGGTACTGTAAACAGCACAGTGACGGTATTTGG GCGGTTGTGGATGTCTCTTTGGACAGCCTAAGACCAAGTCCGATCACTAG AAGCAGAAGAAGACCCTCTGGTTGTCTGATTCAAGAATTGCAGAATGGTT ACTCCAAGGTGACATGGGTAGAGCATATTGAGGTGGATGATAGATCGGTT CACAACATGTATAAACCGTTGGTTAATACCGGTTTAGCTTTCGGTGCAAA ACGTTGGGTGGCTACACTTGACCGCCAATGTGAGCGGCTCGCCAGTTCCA TGGCCAGCAACATTCCGGCTTGTGATCTTTCCGTGATAACGAGTCCTGAGG **GGAGAAAGAGCATGCTGAAACTAGCGGAGAGAATGGTGATGAGCTTCTG** TACCGGAGTCGGCGCGTCAACTGCGCATGCCTGGACTACATTGTCGACCA CAGGATCCGACGACGTTCGGGTCATGACCCGAAAGAGCATGGATGATCCG GGAAGACCTCCAGGCATCGTTCTCAGCGCCGCTACTTCTTCTGGATCCCT GTAGCTCCAAAACGAGTGTTCGATTTTCTCAGAGATGAAAACTCAAGAAG CGAGTGGGATATACTTTCCAATGGAGGCTTGGTTCAAGAAATGGCTCATA TCGCAAATGGTCGTGATCCTGGGAATAGTGTCTCCTTGCTTCGAGTCAATA GTGGGAACTCAGGGCAGAGCAACATGTTGATCTTACAAGAAAGTTGTACG GACGCATCAGGGTCCTATGTGATATACGCACCAGTTGATATAATAGCTAT GAACGTTGTCCTGAGTGGTGGTGATCCGGATTATGTCGCTTTGTTACCATC CGGATTCGCTATTTTGCCGGATGGCTCTGCTAGAGGAGGAGGAGGAGGTAGTG CTAATGCCAGTGCTGGAGCCGGAGTTGAAGGAGGAGGAGAGGGGGAATAA TCTTGAAGTGGTTACTACTACTGGGAGTTGTGGCGGTTCACTACTCACAGT TGCGTTTCAGATACTTGTTGACTCTGTTCCTACCGCTAAACTCTCTCGGT TCAGTTGCTACAGTCAATAGTCTGATCAAATGCACTGTCGAGCGGATTAA AGCCGCTCTGGCCTGCGACGGAGCCTAATCGATGTTTTCGGAAGGTAAGA GTGAAAGGG

GL2 cDNA Sequence

ATGTCAATGGCCGTCGACATGTCTTCCAAACAACCACCAAAGACTTTTTC TCCTCTCCAGCCCTCTCTCTATCTCCGCTGGGATATTCCGGAATGCATCCT CCGGCAGCACCAACCCTGAGGAGGATTTCCTGGGCAGAAGAGTAGTTGAC GATGAGGATCGCACTGTGGAGATGAGCAGCGAGAACTCAGGACCCACGA GATCCAGATCAGAGGAGGATTTGGAGGGTGAGGATCACGACGATGAGGA GGAGGAAGAGGAGGACGGCGCAGCTGGAAACAAGGGCACTAATAAGAG AAAGAGGAAGAAGTATCATCGTCACACCACCGATCAGATCAGACACATG GAAGCGCTATTCAAAGAGACACCACATCCGGACGAGAAGCAAAGACAGC AGCTGAGCAAGCAACTAGGGCTGGCCCCTCGCCAGGTCAAGTTCTGGTTC CAAAACCGCCGCACACAGATCAAGGCTATTCAAGAACGGCACGAGAACT CCCTGCTCAAGGCGGAACTAGAGAAGCTGCGAGAGGAAAACAAAGCCAT GAGGGAGTCTTTTTCCAAGGCTAATTCCTCCTGCCCCAACTGCGGAGGAG GCCCCGATGATCTCCACCTCGAAAACTCCAAACTGAAAGCCGAGCTCGAT AAGCTTCGTGCAGCTCTTGGACGCACTCCCTATCCCCTGCAGGCTTCATGC TCCGACGATCAAGAACACCGTCTCGGCTCTCTCGATTTCTACACGGGCGTC TTTGCCCTCGAGAAGTCCCGTATTGCCGAGATTTCTAACCGAGCCACCCTT GAACTCCAGAAGATGGCCACCTCAGGCGAACCTATGTGGCTCCGCAGCGT TGAGACTGGCCGTGAGATTCTCAACTACGATGAGTACCTCAAGGAGTTTC CCCAAGCGCAAGCCTCTTCGTTTCCTGGAAGGAAAACCATCGAAGCATCT AGAGATGCGGGGATTGTGTTTATGGACGCACATAAACTTGCCCAGAGTTT CATGGACGTGGGACAATGGAAAGAGACATTTGCATGCTTGATCTCAAAGG CTGCAACGGTCGATGTTATCCGGCAAGGCGAAGGGCCTTCACGGATCGAC GGGGCTATTCAGCTGATGTTCGGAGAGATGCAGCTGCTCACTCCGGTCGT CCCCACAAGAGAAGTGTACTTCGTGAGAAGCTGCCGGCAGCTGAGCCCTG AGAAATGGGCAATAGTGGACGTCTCGGTCTCCGTGGAGGACAGCAACAC GGAGAAGGAGGCTTCTCTTCTGAAATGTCGAAAACTCCCCTCCGGTTGCA TCATCGAGGACACCTCCAACGGTCACTCCAAGGTCACCTGGGTGGAGCAC CTCGACGTGTCTGCATCCACAGTTCAGCCTCTTCCGCTCCTTAGTCAAC ACCGGTTTGGCCTTTGGGGGCTCGACACTGGGTCGCCACCCTTCAGCTCCAT TGCGAACGCCTTGTCTTCTTCATGGCTACCAACGTCCCCACCAAAGACTCT CTCGGAGTTACAACTCTTGCCGGGAGAAAGAGTGTGCTGAAGATGGCTCA GAGAATGACACAAAGCTTCTACCGCGCCATTGCTGCATCAAGCTACCATC AATGGACCAAAATCACCACCAAAAACTGGACAAGACATGCGGGTTTCTTCC AGGAAGAACCTTCATGATCCTGGCGAGCCCACGGGAGTCATTGTCTGCGC GAGATGAAGCTCGTCGGCATGAGTGGGATGCTTTGTCAAACGGAGCTCAT GTTCAGTCTATTGCAAACTTATCCAAGGGACAAGACAGAGGCAACTCAGT GGCAATCCAGACAGTGAAATCGAGAGAAAAGAGCATATGGGTGCTGCAA GACAGCAGCACTAACTCGTATGAGTCGGTGGTGGTATACGCTCCCGTAGA TATAAACACGACACAGCTGGTGCTCGCGGGGACATGATCCAAGCAACATCC AAATCCTCCCCTCTGGATTCTCAATCATACCTGATGGAGTAGAGTCACGGC CACTGGTAATAACGTCTACACAAGACGACAGAAACAGCCAAGGAGGGTC GCTCCTGACACTCGCCCTCCAAACCCTCATCAACCCTTCTCCTGCAGCAAA GCTGAATATGGAGTCTGTGGAATCCGTGACAAACCTCGTCTCAGTCACAC TACACAACATTAAGAGAAGTCTACAAATCGAAGATTGCTGATGACAAGTC ACAGCAGATATTATTTACCTAT

PHB cDNA Sequence

ATGATGATGGTCCATTCGATGAGCAGAGATATGATGAACAGAGAGTCGCC GGATAAAGGGTTAGATTCCGGCAAGTATGTGAGGTACACGCCGGAGCAA GTGGAAGCTCTCGAGAGAGTTTACACTGAGTGTCCTAAGCCAAGTTCTCT AAGAAGACAACAACTCATACGTGAATGTCCGATTCTCTCTAACATCGAGC CTAAGCAGATCAAAGTTTGGTTTCAGAACCGCAGATGTCGTGAGAAGCAG AGGAAAGAAGCTGCTCGTCTTCAAACAGTGAACAGAAAACTCAATGCCAT GAACAAACTCTTGATGGAAGAGAATGATCGTTTGCAGAAGCAAGTTTCTA ACTTGGTCTATGAGAATGGCCACATGAAACATCAACTTCACACTGCTTCTG GGACGACCACAGACAACAGCTGTGAGTCTGTGGTCGTGAGTGGTCAGCAA CATCAACAGCAAAACCCCAAATCCTCAGCATCAGCAACGTGATGCTAACAA CCCAGCAGGACTCCTTTCTATAGCAGAGGAGGCCCTAGCAGAGTTCCTTT CCAAGGCTACAGGAACTGCTGTTGACTGGGTTCAGATGATTGGGATGAAG CCTGGTCCGGATTCTATTGGCATAGTCGCTATTTCGCGCAACTGCAGCGGA ATTGCAGCACGTGCCTGCGGCCTCGTGAGTTTAGAACCCATGAAGGTTGC TGAAATTCTCAAAGATCGTCCATCTTGGCTCCGAGATTGTCGAAGTGTGG ATACTCTGAGTGTGATACCTGCTGGAAACGGTGGGACGATCGAGCTTATT TACACGCAGATGTATGCTCCTACGACTTTAGCAGCAGCTCGTGACTTTTGG ACGCTGAGATATAGCACATGTTTGGAAGATGGAAGCTATGTGGTTTGTGA AAGGTCGCTTACTTCTGCAACTGGTGGCCCCACTGGGCCACCTTCTTCAAA CTTTGTGAGAGCTGAAATGAAACCAAGCGGGTTTCTCATCCGTCCTTGCG ATGGTGGTGGTTCCATTCTCCACATTGTTGATCATGTTGATCTGGATGCCT GGAGTGTCCCTGAAGTCATGAGGCCTCTCTATGAATCATCGAAGATTCTTG CTCAGAAAATGACTGTTGCTGCTTTGAGACATGTAAGACAAATTGCACAA GAAACAAGTGGAGAAGTTCAGTATGGTGGAGGGCGCCAACCTGCGGTTTT AAGAACCTTCAGTCAAAGACTCTGTCGGGGGTTTCAATGATGCTGTTAATG GTTTTGTGGATGATGGATGGTCACCAATGGGTAGCGATGGTGCAGAGGAT GTTACTGTAATGATAAACTTGTCCCCTGGGAAGTTTGGTGGGTCTCAGTAC GGTAATTCATTCCTTCCAAGCTTTGGTAGTGGCGTGCTTTGTGCCAAGGCA TCTATGTTGCTTCAGAACGTTCCACCCGCTGTGCTGGTTCGATTCCTTAGA GAACACCGATCTGAATGGGCTGATTATGGCGTGGATGCTTATGCTGCTGC ATCGCTCAGAGCAAGTCCTTTTGCTGTTCCTTGTGCTAGAGCTGGGGGGGTT CCCAAGTAACCAAGTCATTCTTCCTCTTGCGCAGACAGTTGAACATGAAG AGTCACTTGAGGTGGTTAGACTTGAAGGTCACGCTTACTCACCCGAAGAC ATGGGTTTAGCTCGGGGATATGTATTTGCTACAGCTTTGTAGCGGTGTTGAT GAAAATGTGGTTGGAGGTTGTGCACAGCTTGTATTTGCCCCCTATCGATGAA TCATTTGCTGATGATGCACCTTTGCTTCCTTCCGGTTTCCGCATCATACCTC TTGAACAGAAATCTACTCCGAACGGTGCATCTGCAAACCGTACCCTGGAT TTAGCCTCAGCTTTAGAAGGATCCACACGTCAAGCTGGTGAAGCCGACCC AAATGGCTGTAACTTTAGGTCGGTACTAACCATAGCATTCCAGTTCACATT TGATAACCATTCAAGAGACAGTGTTGCTTCAATGGCACGTCAGTACGTGC GAAGCATAGTAGGATCGATTCAGAGGGTTGCTCTAGCCATTGCTCCTCGT CCTGGCTCCAATATCAGTCCAATATCTGTTCCCACT

PHV cDNA Sequence

ATGATGGCTCATCACTCCATGGACGATAGAGACTCTCCTGATAAAGGATTTGA TTCCGGCAAGTACGTTAGATACACGCCGGAACAAGTTGAAGCTCTTGAGAGA GTTTATGCTGAGTGTCCTAAACCTAGCTCTCTGAGAAGACAACAGCTTATTCG TGAATGTCCCATTCTCTGTAACATCGAGCCTCGACAGATCAAAGTTTGGTTCC AGAATCGCAGATGTCGAGAGAAGCAGAGGAAAGAGTCAGCTCGTCTTCAGAC AGTGAACAGGAAGCTGAGTGCTATGAACAAGCTTTTGATGGAAGAGAATGAT CGTTTGCAGAAGCAAGTCTCCAACTTGGTTTATGAGAATGGATTCATGAAACA TCGAATCCACACTGCTTCTGGGACGACCACAGACAACAGCTGTGAGTCTGTG GTCGTGAGTGGTCAGCAACGTCAGCAGCAAAACCCAACACATCAGCATCCTC AGCGTGATGTTAACAACCCAGCTAATCTTCTCTCGATTGCGGAGGAGACCTTG GCGGAGTTCCTTTGCAAGGCTACAGGAACTGCTGTCGACTGGGTCCAGATGA TTGGGATGAAGCCTGGTCCGGATTCTATTGGTATCGTAGCTGTTTCACGCAAC TGCAGTGGAATAGCAGCACGTGCCTGTGGCCTCGTGAGTTTAGAACCCATGA AGGTCGCTGAAATCCTCAAAGATCGTCCATCTTGGTTCCGTGACTGTCGATGT GTCGAGACTCTGAATGTTATACCCACTGGAAATGGTGGTACTATCGAGCTTGT CAACACTCAGATTTATGCTCCTACAACATTAGCAGCAGCTCGTGACTTTTGGA CGCTGAGATATAGTACAAGTCTAGAAGATGGAAGCTATGTGGTCTGTGAGAG ATCACTCACTTCTGCAACTGGTGGCCCCAATGGTCCACTTTCTTCAAGCTTCGT GAGAGCCAAAATGCTGTCAAGCGGGTTTCTTATCCGTCCTTGTGATGGTGGTG GTTCCATTATTCACATCGTTGATCATGTGGACTTGGATGTCTCAAGTGTTCCTG AAGTCCTCAGGCCTCTTTATGAGTCTTCCAAAATCCTTGCTCAAAAAATGACT GTCGCTGCTCTGAGACATGTGCGCCAAATTGCTCAAGAGACTAGTGGAGAAG TCCAGTATAGTGGTGGACGCCAGCCTGCAGTTTTAAGGACTTTCAGCCAGAG CTCCAATGAGTAGTGATGGAGGAGGAGGAGAGAGATATTACGATCATGATTAACTCTTCC TCTGCTAAATTTGCTGGCTCCCAATACGGTAGCTCATTTCTTCCAAGTTTTGGA AGTGGTGTCCTCTGTGCCAAAGCTTCTATGCTGTTGCAGAATGTTCCACCCCT TGTATTGATTCGGTTCCTGAGAGAACACCGAGCTGAATGGGCAGACTATGGT GTCGATGCCTATTCTGCTGCATCTCTCAGAGCAACTCCATATGCTGTTCCATG CGTCAGAACCGGTGGGTTCCCGAGTAACCAAGTCATTCTTCCTCTCGCACAGA CACTCGAACATGAAGAGTTTCTCGAAGTGGTTAGACTTGGAGGTCATGCTTAC TCACCTGAAGACATGGGCTTATCCCGGGATATGTATTTACTGCAGCTTTGTAG CGGCGTTGATGAAAATGTGGTTGGAGGTTGTGCTCAGCTTGTCTTTGCCCCAA TCGATGAATCATTTGCTGATGATGCACCTTTGCTTCCTTGGTTTCCGTGTCA TACCACTCGACCAAAAAACAAATCCGAATGATCATCAATCTGCAAGTCGAAC ACGGGATCTAGCATCGTCCCTAGATGGTTCCACCAAAACCGATTCGGAAACA AACTCTAGATTGGTCTTAACAATAGCCTTCCAGTTCACGTTTGATAACCATTC CAGAGACAATGTTGCTACAATGGCGAGACAGTATGTGAGGAACGTTGTTGGT TCGATTCAGAGAGTGGCTCTAGCCATTACGCCTCGTCCTGGCTCAATGCAACT TCCCACTTCCCCTGAAGCTCTCACTCTTGTCCGTTGGATCACCCGTAGTTACAG TATTCATACAGGTGCAGATCTGTTTGGAGCTGATTCTCAGTCCTGTGGAGGAG ACACATTGCTTAAGCAACTCTGGGACCATAGTGATGCCATATTGTGCTGCTCC CTGAAAACTAATGCCTCACCGGTATTCACATTTGCAAACCAAGCTGGTTTAGA CATGCTTGAAACTACACTTGTGGCACTTCAGGATATAATGCTCGACAAAACAC TTGATGACTCTGGTCGTAGAGCTCTTTGCTCCGAGTTCGCCAAGATCATGCAG CAGGGATATGCGAATCTTCCGGCAGGAATATGTGTGTCGAGCATGGGCAGAC CGGTTTCGTATGAGCAAGCGACGGTGTGGAAAGTTGTTGATGACAACGAATC

REVOLUTA CDNA clone BX830562 from genoscope

pink = START domain orange = REV(for2) purple = REV(for3) and REV(rev3) red = REV(rev2) green = FL-REV/NTAILGFP(FOR)BAM light green = FL-REV/NTAILGFP(REV)BAM

1	ATGGAGATGG	CGGTGGCTAA	CCACCGTGAG	AGAAGCAGTG	ACAGTATGAA
51	TAGACATTTA	GATAGTAGCG	GTAAGTACGT	TAGGTACACA	GCTGAGCAAG
101	TCGAGGCTCT	TGAGCGTGTC	TACGCTGAGT	GTCCTAAGCC	TAGCTCTCTC
151	CGTCGACAAC	AATTGATCCG	TGAATGTTCC	ATTTTGGCCA	ATATTGAGCC
201	TAAGCAGATC	AAAGTCTGGT	TTCAGAACCG	CAGTGTCCGA	GATAAGCAGA
251	GGAAAGAGGC	GTCGAGGCTC	CAGAGCGTAA	ACCGGAAGCT	CTCTGCGATG
301	AATAAACTGT	TGATGGAGGA	GAATGATAGG	TTGCAGAAGC	AGGTTTCTCA
351	GCTTGTCTGC	GAAAATGGAT	ATATGAGACA	GCAGCCAACT	ACTGTTGTTA
401	ACGATCCAAG	CTGTGAATCT	GTGGTCACAA	CTCCTCAGCA	TTCGCTTAGA
451	GATGCGAATA	GTCCTGCTGG	ATTGCTC TCA	ATCGCAGAGG	AGACTTTGGC
501	AGAGTTCCTA	TCCAAGGCTA	CAGGAACTGC	TGTTGATTGG	GTTCAGATGC
551	CTGGGATGAA	GCCTGGTCCG	GATTCGGTTG	GCATCTTTGC	CATTTCGCAA
601	AGATGCAATG	GAGTGGCAGC	TCGAGCCTGT	GGTCTTGTTA	GCTTAGAACC
651	TATGAAGATT	GCAGAGATCC	TCAAAGATCG	GCCATCTTGG	TTCCGTGACT
701	GTAGGAGCCT	TGAAGTTTTC	ACTATGTTCC	CGGCTGGTAA	TGGTGGCACA
751	ATCGAGCTTG	TTTATATGCA	GACGTATGCA	CCAACGACTC	TGGCTCCTGC
801	CCGCGATTTC	TGGACCCTGA	GATACACAAC	GAGCCTCGAC	AATGGGAGTT
851	TTGTGGTTTG	TGAGAGGTCG	CTATCTGGCT	CTGGAGCTGG	GCCTAATGCT
901	GCTTCAGCTT	CTCAGTTTGT	GAGAGCAGAA	ATGCTTTCTA	GTGGGTATTT
951	AATAAGGCCT	TGTGATGGTG	GTGGTTCTAT	TATTCACATT,	GTCGATCACC
1001	TTAATCTTGA	GGCTTGGAGT	GTTCCGGATG	TGCTTCGACC	CCTTTATGAG
1051	TCATCCAAAG	TCGTTGCACA	AAAAATGACC	ATTTCCGCGT	TGCGGTATAT
1101	CAGGCAATTA	GCCCAAGAGT	CTAATGGTGA	AGTAGTGTAT	GGATTAGGAA
1151	GGCAGCCTGC	TGTTCTTAGA	ACCTTTAGCC	AAAGATTAAG	CAGGGGCTTC
1201	AATGATGCGG	TTAATGGGTT	TGGTGACGAC	GGGTGGTCTA	CGATGCATTG
1251	TGATGGAGCG	GAAGATATTA	TCGTTGCTAT	TAACTCTACA	AAGCATTTGA
1301	ATAATATTIC	TAATICTCTT	TCGITCCITG	GAGGCGTGCT	CTGTGCCAAG
1351	GCTTCAATGC	TTCTCCAAAA	TGTTCCTCCT	GCGGTTTTGA	TCCGGTTCCT
1401	TAGAGAGCAT	CGATCTGAGT	GGGCTGATTT	CAATGTTGAT	GCATATTCCG
1401	CIGCIACACT	TAAAGCTGGT	AGCTTTGCTT	ATCCGGGAAT	GAGACCAACA
1501	AGATICACIG	GGAGTCAGAT	CATAATGCCA	CTAGGACATA	CAATTGAACA
1001	CGAAGAAATG	CTAGAAGTIG	'I'I'AGAC'I'GGA	AGGICATICT	CITCCAAG
1601	AAGATGCATT	TATGTCACGG	GATGTCCATC	TCCTTCAGAT	TTGTACCGGG
1701	ATTGACGAGA	AIGCCGIIGG	AGCTTGTTCT	GAACTGATAT	TIGCTCCGAT
1751	TAATGAGATG	TICCCGGAIG	AIGCICCACT	TGTTCCCTCT	GGATTCCGAG
1901	AMORACCOGI	CATGCTAAA	ACGGGAGATG	TACAAGATCT	GTTAACCGCT
1001	MAICACCGIA	CACTAGACTT	AACTITIAGC	CITGAAGICG	GICCATCACC
1001	TGAGAAIGCI	TCTGGAAACT	CTTTTTCTAG	CICAAGCICG	AGATGTATIC
1051	CORCORADOG	GTTTCAATTC	CUTTTGAAA	ACAACTIGCA	AGAAAATGTT
2001	TOTTOCANTC	CITGICAGIA	IGIGAGGAGC	GIGAICICAT	CAGITCAACG
2051	10110CAAIG	ACCARCICAC	CGICIGGGAI	AAGCCCGAGT	CIGGGUICCA
2101	CAAACTCACA	AGGATCTCCT	GAAGCIGITA	CICIIGCICA	GIGGATCICT
2151	TCCAACCCAC	GICAICACII	MGGCICGGAG	TIGCIGACGA	TIGATICACT
2201	Tremencence	CUCATTANAC	CCACACOCAC	MIGGGAICAC	mocch books
2251	GCTGCTCTAC	ACATCCTACA	CACAACACOT	CTROCCUTAC	BACATATAAC
2301	ACTICANNA	ATATICATC	AATCOCTCC	TABCCOTTABC	DCADOCCYCa
2351	TCGCCAACCT	AATCCAACAC	CCAMPCONC	THURSDOLLAIL	ACCAARCI
2401	GIGICAACCA	TCCCAACACA	TCTCACTTAT	CAACAACCTC	THIC THICLDI
2451	AGTGTTTGCT	GCATCTGAAG	AAAACAACAA	CAATCTICE	TIGCT I GOULT
			The same state of the same		
REV cDNA compared with two published sequences

	10	, 20 I	· 30	/ 40	50	60	
ntig# 1		••••••	•••••		•••••	•••••	••••
iria's AIR cDNA	MEMAVANHRE	RSSDSMNRHL	DSSGKYVRY1 DSSGKYVRY1	AEQVEALERV	YAECPKPSSLI YAECPKPSSLI	RRQQLIRECS RROOLIRECS	ILANIEPK ILANIEPK
ANA clone	MEMAVANHRE	RSSDSMNRHL	DSSGKYVRYT	AEQVEALERV	YAECPKPSSL	RROOLIRECS	ILANIEPK
	70	80	90 1	.00 1:	10 13	20 1	30
and and 1			1		ł		
ria's	QIKVWFQNRS	VRDKORKEAS	RLOSVNRKLS	AMNKLLMEENI	ORLOKOVSOL	VCENGYMROO	PTTVVNDP
IR CDNA	QIKVWFQNRR	CRDKQRKEAS	RLOSVNRKLS	AMNKLLMEENI	DRLQKQVSQL	VCENGYMKQQ	LTTVVNDP
INA CIONE	QIKVWFQNKS	VRUKURKEAS	REQSVARAES	AMNKLLMEENI	DKTŐKŐA PŐP.	VCENGIMRQQ	PTTVVNDP
l	140	150	160	170	180	190	200
ntig# 1	••••••			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•••••••••	•••••
IR CDNA	SCESVVITPO	HSLRDANSPA	GLLSIAEETI	AEFLSKATGT		KPGPDSVGIF	AISQRCNG
NA clone	SCESVVITPO	HSLRDANSPA	GLLSIAEETI	AEFLSKATGT	AVDWVQMPGMI	KPGPDSVGIF	AISQRCNG
	210	220	230	240	250	260	270
ntig# l ria's	VAARACGLVS	LEPMKTAETL	KDRPSWFRDC	RSLEVETMEP	AGNGGTTELV	MOTYAPTTI.	APARDEWT
IR CDNA	VAARACGLVS	LEPMKIAEIL	KDRPSWFRDC	RSLEVFTMFP	AGNGGTIELV	MQTYAPTTL	APARDFWT
NA clone	VAARACGLVS	LEPMKIAEIL	KDRPSWFRDC	RSLEVFIMFP	AGNGGTIELV	YMQTYAPTTL	APARDFWT
	280	290	300	310	320	330	340
ntig# 1				••••••			
ria's	LRYTTSLDNG	SFVVCERSLS	GSGAGPNAAS	ASOFVRAEML	SSGYLIRPCD	GGSIIHIVD	HLNLEAWS
NA clone	LRYTTSLDNG	SFVVCERSLS	GSGAGPNAAS	ASQFVRAEML: ASQFVRAEML:	SSGYLIRPCD	GGSIIHIVD	HLNLEAWS
	250	360		200	200	400	
		300	370	380	390	400	
ntig# 1 ria's	VPOVLEPLYE	SSKWAOKMT	TSALBYTROT	AOFSNOEWVY		····	NDAVNGEG
IR CDNA	VPDVLRPLYE	SSKVVAQKMT	ISALRYIROL	AQESNGEVVY	GLGRQPAVLR	FSQRLSRGF	NDAVNGFG
NA clone		SSKVVAQKMT	ISALRYIRQL	AQESNGEVVY	GLGRQPAVLR	FSQRLSRGF	NDAVNGFG
	VI DVIALE DI L					50 4	70
	410 4	20 4	30 4	40 45		1	1
ntig# 1	410 4	20 4 	30 4 	40 45	 		
ntig# 1 ria's	410 4 DDGwSTMHCD	20 4	30 4	40 45	AKASMILQNV	 PPAVLIRFLR	EHRSEWAD
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/	AKASMILQNVI AKASMILQNVI AKASMILQNVI	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN	40 45 SLSFLCGVLC/ SLSFLCGVLC/ SLSFLCGVLC/	ARASMILLQNVI ARASMILLQNVI ARASMILLQNVI	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD
ntig# 1 ria's MR cDNA NA clone	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ 510 	AKASMILQNVI AKASMILQNVI AKASMILQNVI 520	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR 530	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD 540
ntig# 1 ria's MR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 FNVDAYSAAT	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 MRPTRFTGSO	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ 510 UMPLGHTTEE	AKASMILQNVI AKASMILQNVI AKASMILQNVI 520 HEEMILEVVRIJ	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR 530	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD 540
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ 510 IMPLGHTIEH IMPLGHTIEH	AKASMILLQNVI AKASMILQNVI AKASMILQNVI 520 HEEMLEVVRLI HEEMLEVVRLI	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR 530 2GHSLAQEDA 2GHSLAQEDA	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD 540 FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL
ntig# 1 ria's MR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 I FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ	40 49 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVL	AKASMILQNVJ AKASMILQNVJ AKASMILQNVJ 520 HEEMILEVVRLJ HEEMILEVVRLJ	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR 530 SGHSLAQEDA SGHSLAQEDA SGHSLAQEDA	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD 540 FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG 560	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ 570	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ 510 IIMPLGHTIEH IIMPLGHTIEH 580	AKASMILLQNVJ AKASMILLQNVJ 520 HEEMLEVVRLJ HEEMLEVVRLJ 590	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR 530 CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA 600	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD 540 FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL 610
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG 560 	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ 570 	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ 510 IIMPLGHTIEH IMPLGHTIEH 580 	AKASMILQNVJ AKASMILQNVJ 520 HEEMLEVVRLJ HEEMLEVVRLJ IEEMLEVVRLJ 590 	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR 530 2GHSLAQEDA 2GHSLAQEDA 2GHSLAQEDA 600 	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD 540 FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL 610
ntig# 1 ria's NA clone ntig# 1 ria's NA clone ntig# 1 ria's	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 I FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT S50 I LQICTGIDEN LQICTGIDEN	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG 560 AVGACSELIF	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ 570 APINEMFPDD	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ 510 IIMPLGHTIEH IIMPLGHTIEH 580 APLVPSGFRVI APLVPSGFRVI	AKASMILLQNVJ AKASMILLQNVJ 520 HEEMILEVVRLJ HEEMILEVVRLJ 590 LIPVDAKTGDV	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR 530 2GHSLAQEDA 2GHSLAQEDA 600 201LTANHRT	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD 540 FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL 610 LDLTSSLE
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT S50 LQICTGIDEN LQICTGIDEN LQICTGIDEN	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG 560 AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ 570 APINEMFPDD APINEMFPDD APINEMFPDD	40 45 SLSFLGGVLCA SLSFLGGVLCA SLSFLGGVLCA 510 IIMPLGHTIEH IIMPLGHTIEH 580 APLVPSGFRVI APLVPSGFRVI APLVPSGFRVI	AKASMILLQNVJ AKASMILLQNVJ AKASMILLQNVJ 520 HEEMLEVVRLJ HEEMLEVVRLJ 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR 530 CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGULTANHRT CDLLTANHRT	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD 540 FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL 610 LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ria's IR cDNA NA clone	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 I FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT S50 I LQICTGIDEN LQICTGIDEN LQICTGIDEN 620	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG 560 AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF 630	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 I MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ 570 S70 I APINEMFPDD APINEMFPDD APINEMFPDD 640	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ S10 IMPLGHTIEN IMPLGHTIEN S80 APLVPSGFRVI APLVPSGFRVI APLVPSGFRVI 650	AKASMLLQNVJ AKASMLLQNVJ AKASMLLQNVJ 520 HEEMLEVVRLJ HEEMLEVVRLJ 590 LPVDAKTGDVA LPVDAKTGDVA (PVDAK	PAVLIRFLR PAVLIRFLR PAVLIRFLR 530 CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA 600 DILLTANHRT DILLTANHRT DILLTANHRT 2011TANHRT	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD 540 FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL 610 LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 I FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT S50 I LQICTGIDEN LQICTGIDEN 620 	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG 560 AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF 630 	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 I MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ 570 I APINEMFPDD APINEMFPDD 640 I	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ S10 IIMPLGHTIEH DIMPLGHTIEH 580 APLVPSGFRVI APLVPSGFRVI 650 	AKASMILLQNVJ AKASMILLQNVJ 520 HEEMLEVVRLJ HEEMLEVVRLJ 590 LPVDAKTGDVJ 1PVDAKTGDVJ 660 	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR S30 CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA COULTANHRT DILLTANHRT COLLTANHRT COLLTANHRT	EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD EHRSEWAD 540 FMSRDVHL FMSRDVHL 610 LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE 680
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT S50 LQICTGIDEN LQICTGIDEN 620 VGPSPENASC	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG 560 AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF 630 NSFSSSSSPC	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 I MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ 570 I APINEMFPDD APINEMFPDD 640 I ILTIAFOFPE	40 45 SLSFLGGVLCA SLSFLGGVLCA SLSFLGGVLCA SLSFLGGVLCA 510 IMPLGHTIEH 1MPLGHTIEH 580 APLVPSGFRVI APLVPSGFRVI 650 ENNLOENVACE	AKASMILLQNVJ AKASMILLQNVJ AKASMILLQNVJ 520 HEEMILEVVRLJ HEEMILEVVRLJ 590 LPVDAKTGDVJ (PVDAKTGDVJ 660 AACOVVPSVT	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR 530 CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGULTANHRT CDLLTANHRT CDLLTANHRT CDLLTANHRT COLLTANHRT	LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE SPSGISPS
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT S50 LQICTGIDEN LQICTGIDEN LQICTGIDEN 620 VGPSPENASG VGPSPENASG	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG 560 AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF 630 NSFSSSSSRC NSFSSSSSRC	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ 570 APINEMFPDD APINEMFPDD 640 ILTIAFQFPF ILTIAFQFPF	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ 510 IIMPLGHTIEH 1IMPLGHTIEH 580 APLVPSGFRVI APLVPSGFRVI 650 ENNLQENVAGE ENNLQENVAGE	AKASMLLQNVJ AKASMLLQNVJ AKASMLLQNVJ 520 HEEMLEVVRLJ HEEMLEVVRLJ 590 IPVDAKTGDVJ IPVDAKTGDVJ IPVDAKTGDVJ 660 MACQYVRSVI: MACQYVRSVI:	PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR PPAVLIRFLR 530 CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGU CULTANHRT CULTANHRT CULTANHRT CULTANHRT COLLTANHRT COLLTANHRT COLLTANHRT COLLTANHRT COLLTANHRT COLLTANHRT COLLTANHRT COLLTANHRT	LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE LDLTSSLE SPSGISPS SPSGISPS
ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone ntig# 1 ria's IR cDNA NA clone	410 4 DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD DDGWSTMHCD 480 I FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT FNVDAYSAAT S50 I LQICTGIDEN LQICTGIDEN 620 I VGPSPENASG VGPSPENASG VGPSPENASG	20 4 GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN GAEDIIVAIN 490 LKAGSFAYPG LKAGSFAYPG 560 AVGACSELIF AVGACSELIF 630 NSFSSSSSRC NSFSSSSSRC	30 4 STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN STKHLNNISN 500 MRPTRFTGSQ MRPTRFTGSQ 570 APINEMFPDD 640 ILTIAFQFPF ILTIAFQFPF ILTIAFQFPF	40 45 SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ SLSFLGGVLC/ 510 IIMPLGHTIEH 510 IIMPLGHTIEH 580 APLVPSGFRVI 650 ENNLQENVAGA ENNLQENVAGA	AKASMILQNVJ AKASMILQNVJ AKASMILQNVJ 520 HEEMLEVVRLJ HEEMLEVVRLJ 1900 1900AKTGDVJ 1900AKTGDVJ 660 1900AKTGDVJ 660 400QVVRSVI: 400QVVRSVI:	PPAVLIRFIR PPAVLIRFIR PPAVLIRFIR 530 CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGHSLAQEDA CGU DLLTANHRT DDLLTANHRT CDLLTANHRT COLLTANHRT CGT0 SSVQRVAMAI SSVQRVAMAI	LDLTSSLE LDLTFSLE 680 25PSGISPS 25PSGISPS

		690 I	700	710	720	730	740	
ntig# 1		· · · · · · · · · · · ·					· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
ria's	LGSKLSP	GSPEAVTL	AQWISQSYS	HHLGSELLTI	DSLGSDDSVL	KLLWDHQDAII	CCSLKPQPVFMF	Ά
IR CDNA	LGSKLSP	GSPEAVTL	AQWISQSYS	HHLGSELLTI	DSLGSDDSVL	KLLWDHQDAII	CCSLKPQPVFMF	Α
NA clone	LGSKLSP	GSPEAVTL	AQWISQSHS	HIGSELLTI	DSLGSDDSVL	KLLWDHQDAII	CCSLKPQPVFMF	Α
	750	760	770	780	790	800	810	
	1			i	I			
ntig# 1	• • • • • • •	• • • • • • • •	••••••		••••••••		· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	·
ria's	NQAGLDM	LETTLVAL	QDITLEKIF	DESGRKAICS	DFAKLMQQGF	ACLPSGICVS1	MGRHVSYEQAVA	W
IR CDNA	NQAGLDM	LETTLVAL	QDITLEKIF	DESGRKAICS	DFAKLMQQGF	ACLPSGICVST	MGRHVSYEQAVA	W
NA CIONE	NQAGLDM	LETTLVAL	QDITLERIF	DESGRKAICS	DFAKLMQQGF	ARLPSGICVST	MGRHVSYEQAVA	W
	820	830						
	1							
ntig# 1		• • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • •	••				
ria's	KVFAASE	ENNNNLHC	LAFSFVNWSI	TV .				
IR CDNA	KVFAASE	ENNNNLHC	LAFSFVNWSI	·ν				
NA clone	KVFAASE	ENNNNLHC	LAFSFVNWSI	τv.				

•

6.2. Appendix B – Constructs and Vectors

✤ pCR[®]II-TOPO[®] Plasmid

✤ pMP N-link GFP

pACN (circular)

✤ pACN:GFP(N)

pSRNACNbin (circular)

pSRNSCNbin (linearised)

Map of pCR[®]II-TOPO[®]

The map below shows the features of pCR*II-TOPO* and the sequence surrounding the pCR[®]II-TOPO[®] TOPO[®] Cloning site. Restriction sites are labeled to indicate the actual cleavage site. The Мар arrows indicate the start of transcription for Sp6 and T7 polymerases. For the full sequence of the vector, you may download it from our web site or call Technical Service (page 19). IacZa ATG 413 Reverse Primer CAG GAA ACA GOT ATG ACC ATG ATT ACG DOA AGO TAT TTA GGT GAO GTO OTT TGT CGA TAC TOG TAC TAA TGO GGT TGG ATA AAT COA CTG Nsi L. Hind III Kan i Sec 1 Borner 1 Spe I TAC TCA AGC TAT GCA TCA AGE TTS STA DES AGC TCS GAT CCA CTA GTA ACG GCC ATG AGT TCG ATA CGT AGT TES AAG DAT SGC TCG AGC CTA GGT GAT CAT TGC GGG BarXI EcoRI EcoB 1 Pse 1 EcoR V GCC AGT GTG CTG GAA TTC GCC STT CGG TCA CAC GAC CTT AAG 155 GA PCR Product AG GGC GAA TTC TGC AGA TAT Back I (Nori Nsi i Xba i xho i 408 AGT GAG TCG TAT TAC AAT TCA CTG DCC STC TCA CTC AGC ATA ATG TTA AST SAC 135 136 STT TTA CAA COT CGT CAA AAT CTT SCA GCA GAC TEG GAA AAC lac pCR[®]II-TOPO[®] Comments for pCR®II-TOPO® 3.9 kb **3950 nucleotides** LacZa gene: bases 1-588 Not 1 site at M13 Reverse priming site: bases 205-221 Sp6 promoter: bases 239-256 371 Multiple Cloning Site: bases 269-399 T7 promoter: bases 406-425 M13 (-20) Forward priming site: bases 433-448 M13 (-40) Forward priming site: bases 453-468 fl origin: bases 590-1004 Kanamycin resistance ORF: bases 1338-2132 Ampicillin resistance ORF: bases 2150-3010 pUC origin: bases 3155-3828

pMP-Nlink GFP

Modified GFP sequence with N-terminal linker and two unique multiple cloning sites; one for upstream promoter insertion and one for downstream N-terminal protein fusion. The Nos Terminator also has a choice of downstream restriction sites for transfer of the whole cassette into pCIRCE. The backbone is a high copy number vector, modified from the Clontech pEGFP-1 plasmid (Kan R). The completed protein fusion may be transferred into pCIRCE using 5' Bgl II (ends compatible with BamH1), BamH1, Sma1, Kpn1, Sac1, Hind III or EcoR1, coupled with sites from downstream Nos. NB ; HindIII site is not unique, being found in the 5' MCS and downstream of Nos.





pACN:GFP(N)

This construct is derived from pACN(Pst) and comprises the ALCA promoter (270bps) driving the mpGFP from pMP-Nlink GFP (Mags 2006). Following insertion of a C-terminal sequence(at the SnaB1 site)the whole insert can only be moved as a Hind3 fragment into pSRNACNbin, therefore if a Hind3 site is present in the gene to be linked to the GFP then this construct should not be used and the gene inserted directly into pSRNACNbin:GFP. All inserts should be cloned into the SnaB1 site (blunt) to be upstream of the STOP codon (TAA). Check that the insert is in frame!





pACN (Pst)

This construct is derived from pACN and comprises the ALCA promoter (270bps) and the Nos terminator The only site available is Pst. The cassette can be removed as a H3 fragment into pSRNACNbin(-CAT).



pSRNACNbin(-CAT)

#267.

This construct is derived from pSRNACNbin, and is based on BIN19 (Kan^{r)}



pAI(bin)NGFP

268



6.3. Appendix C – Protocols

- Expand High Fidelity PCR System
- RNeasy Plant Mini Protocol
- ✤ Wizard[®] Plus SV Minipreps DNA Purification System Promega
- * High Pure PCR Product Purification Kit Roche

Generalis overhonging A'S. For general laboratory use. FOR IN VITRO USE ONLY. Jen recommends Expand High Fidelity PCR System adding Tay for it eoxynucleoside-triphosphate: DNA deoxynucleotidyltransferase, E.C. 2.7.7 the end at. No. 1732 641 Version 4, Feb. 2003 100 U for approx. 40 reactions 500 U (2 × 250 U) for approx. 200 reactions at. No. 1732650 Stable at -15 to -25° C at. No. 1 759 078 2500 U (10 × 250 U) for approx. 1000 reactions abo hot start to avoid problems with trom elease a chinty, oduct overview Enzyme properties ù a Volume activity ick content approx. 4.8 × 10⁻⁶ Error rate* Viet Content Optimal enzyme cor centration varies from 0.5-5 U per 50 µl Expand High Fidelity Enzyme mix 30 µl (100 U pack size) 2× 72 μl (500 U pack size) 10× 72 μl (2500 U pack size) reaction Standard enzyme con 2.6 U (0.75 µl) per 50 µl reaccentration tion Enzyme storage buffer: 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5 (25°C), 100 mM KCl, 1 mM dithlothreitol (DTT). 72°C. For PCR products > 3 kb Optimal elongation the optimal elongation tem-perature is 68°C. temperature 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.5% Nonidet P40 (v/v), 0.5% Tween 20 (v/v), 50% glycerol (v/v) varies from 1.5 - 4 mM (as MgCl₂) 1.5 mM (as MgCl₂) when using 200 µM dNTP each Optimal Mg²⁺ concen Add tration Expand High Fidelity buffer, 10× Tay pol 1 ml (100 U pack size) Standard Mg2+ con-2 2×1 ml (500 U pack size) centration 10× 1 ml (2500 U pack size) for find PCR product size conc. with 15 mM MgCl₂ Expand High Fidelity buffer, 10× up to 5 kb PCR cloning TA-cloning 10-11-15 -> yes, due to the 3'-5' exonu-clease activity of the proof-reading polymerase Repair of mismatched 6 tar ml (100 U pack size) primers at 3' end 1 ml (500 U pack size) 10× 1 ml (2500 U pack size) eff-ciently Incorporation of modi fied nucleotides accepts modified nucleotides like DIG-dUTP, biotin-dUTP, fluorescein-dUTP conc. without MgCl₂ 1 ml (100 U pack size) 1 ml (500 U pack size) 10× 1 ml (2500 U pack size) MgCl₂ stock Prevention of carry-۵ no over contamination 25 mM Relative fidelity determined by the laci assay (2). Henory Idelity determined by the lact assay (2). For generating probes for Southern analysis the concentra-tion of modified JUTP should be 50 M/ (with 150 JM GTTP). When using fluorescein-dUTP the MgCl, concentration systems a concentration of 10 µM modified dUTP is suffi-cient. "Unlabeted dUTP (instead of dTTP) is a poor substrate for the Expand enzyme mix in combination with UNG carry over prevention. Expand High Fidelity PCR System is composed of a unique enzyme mix containing thermostable Taq DNA polymerase and Tgo DNA polymerase. a thermostable DNA polymerase with proofreading activity. This pow-erful polymerase mixture is designed to generate PCR products of high yield. high fidelity and high specificity from all types of DNA (1). Expand High Fidelity PCR System is especially optimized to efficiently amplify DNA fragments up to 5 kb. PCR is possible up to 9 kb with yield diminishing as DNA fragment length increases. scription increases. Standard PCR procedure For the generation of longer PCR products, the Expand Long Template PCR System, which is optimized for the amplification of DNA fragments ranging from 3 kb to The optimal conditions (incubation times and tempera-tures, concentrations of enzyme, template DNA, Mg²⁺) depend on the system used and have to be determined individually. In particular, the Mg²⁺ concentration and the amount of Expand enzyme mix used per assay should be titrated for optimal efficiency of DNA syn-thesis. General onsiderations siant 27 kb in length, is recommended. Due to the inherent 3'-5' exonuclease or _proolread-ing, activity of Igo DNA polymerase, the fidelity of DNA synthesis with Expand High Fidelity PCR System (error rate approx. 48 × 10°) shows 6 3-10d increase compared to Iao DNA polymerase (error rate approx. 1.6 × 10°). pelymens eit Simi ie not i As a starting point, use the following guidelines: Optimal enzyme concentration: 0.5 - 5 U/50 µl. The recommended starting concentration is 2.6 U Stable at -15 to -25°C until the control date printed on orage and sbility f0.75 µl). the lanel Optimal Mg²⁺ concentration can vary from 1.5 -4 mM. The recommended starting concentration 1.5 mM when using 200 µM dNTP (each). ntration is plications · Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) DNA labeling reactions dNTP concentration: always use balanced solutions of all four dNTP. The final concentration of each dNTP should be between 50 and 500 μ M: the most commonly used concentration is 200 μ M. Increase concentrations of Mg²⁺ when increasing the concentration of dNTP.



E 11727 4510

76

- The optimal buffer for the template DNA is either simply sterile double-distilled water or 5-10 mM Tris (pH 7-8). Avoid dissolving the template in TE buffer because EDTA chelates Mg^{2*}.
- Usually it is not necessary to add additives. Never-theless in some cases improvements can be achieved by using up to 100 µg/m bovine serum albumin (BSA). 0.1% Tween 20 (v/v) or 1-2% DMSO.

eparation of action mixes For a larger number of reactions, we recommend that you prepare two reaction muses. This circumvents the need of _Hot Staft and avoids that the 3-5 exonu-clease activity of the proprireading polymerase partially degrades primers and template during the reaction set-up.

It is also recommended to prepare a Master Mix for setting up multiple reactions. The Master Mix typically contains all of the components needed for all PCR tests to be performed at a volume 10% greater than that required for the total number of PCR assays.

Step	Action						
1	Briefly vortex and centrifuge all reagents before starting.						
2	 Prepare two mixes of reagents in sterile microfuge tubes (on ice): <u>Mix 1</u> (for one reaction) 						
		Reagent	Volume	Final conc.			
		sterile double- dist, water	add up to 25 µl				
		Deoxynucleo- tide mix (10 mM of each dNTP)	ιμi	200 µM of each dNTP			
		Upstream primer	variable	300 nM			
		Downstream primer	variable	300 nM			
		Template DNA	variable	0.1 - 250 ng ^a			
	1	Final volume	25 ul				

Reagent	Volume	Final con
sterile double- dist. water	19.25 µl	
Expand High Fidelity buffer, 10× conc. with 15 mM MgCl ₂	5 µl	1× (1.5 mM MgCL ₂)
Expand High Fidelity enzyme mix	0.75 µl	2.6 U/ reaction
Final volume	25 pl	1

More, When titrating the Mg²⁺ concentration use the Expand High Fidelity buffer, 10× conc. without MgCl₂ and the MgCl₂ stock solution (25 mM).

Combine Mix 1 and Mix 2 in a thin-walled PCR tube (on ice). Gently vortex the mixture to produce a 3 homogeneous reaction, then centrifuge briefly to collect sample at the bottom of the tube Mote: Overlay the reaction carefully with min-eral oil if required by your type of thermal cycler.

*e.g. human genomic DNA tamplate: 10 ng-250 ng; plasmid DNA template: 0.1 ng - 15 ng.

Thermal cycling

Place samples in the thermal cycler, and start cycling using the thermal profile below. The gradually increas-ing extension time ensures a higher yield of amplification products.

Note: The elongation step should be performed at 68°C when PCR products longer than 3 kb are ampli-

	Temp.	Time	Cycle No.
Initial denaturation	94°C	2 min	1 x
Denaturation Annealing Elongation	94°C 45°C-65°C ⁰ 72°C or 68°C ^c	15 s 30 s 45 s - 8 min ^d	10 x
Denaturation Annealing Elongation	94°C 45°C-65°C ^b 72°C ^c	15 s 30 s 45 s - 8 min ^d + 5 s cycle elong- ation for each successive cycle ^e	15 - 20 x
Final elongation	72°C	7 min	ìx
Cooling	4°C	unlimited to	ne

Optimal ennealing temperature depends on the melting temperature of the primers and on the system used.
 For PCR products up to 3 kb elongation temperature should be at 27°C, for PCR products larger than 3 kb elongation temperature should be at 68°C.

Elongation time depends on fragment length: 45 s for up to 0,75 kb. 1 min for 1.5 kb, 2 min for 3 kb, 4 min for 6 kb, 8 min for 10 kb.

¹ For example, cycle no, 11 is 5 s longer than cycle 10, cycle no. 12 is 10 s longer than cycle 10, cycle no, 13 is 15 s longer than cycle 10, etc.

Abore: The thermal profiles were developed for the Applied Biosystems GeneAmp PCR System 9600. Other thermal cyclers may require different profiles.

Trouble shooting

Little or no PCR product

Possible cause	Recommendation
Difficult tem- plate e.g. GC- rich templates	 Use the GC-RICH PCR System. Perform initial denaturation step at 95°C for 3 - 5 min.
Poor DNA template quality	Check quality and concentration of template: Analyze an aliquot on an agarose get to check for possible degrada- tion. Make a control reaction on tem- plate with an established primer pair or PCR system. Check or repeat purfication of template.
Enzyme con- centration too low	Increase the amount of enzyme mix in 0.5 U steps.
MgCl ₂ con- centration too low	Increase the MgCl ₂ concentration in steps of 0.25 mM. (1.5 mM MgCl ₂ is the minimal concentration.)
Cycle condi- tions not opti- mal	 Reduce annealing temperature. Increase cycle number. Make sure that the final elongation step was carried out.
Primer design not optimal	Design alternative primers.
Primer con- centration not optimal	 Both primers must have the same concentration. Trate primer concentration (0.2 - 0.6 µM).
Annealing temperature too high	 Reduce anneating temperature (minimal anneating temperature is 45°C). Determine the optimal anneating temperature by touch-down PCR.

continued on next page

Roche Applied Science

77

otice to urchaser A license under U.S. Patents 4,683,202, 4,683,195, and 4,965,188 or their foreign counterparts, owned by Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. and F. Hoffmann-La Roche Lid ("Roche"), has an up-front fee component and a running-royalty component. The purchase price of this product includes limited, nontransferable rights under the running-royalty component to use only this amount of the product to practice the Polymerase Chain Reaction ("PCR") and related processes described in said patents solely for the research and development activities of the purchaser when this product is used in conjunction with a thermal cycler whose use is covered by the up-front fee component. Rights to the up-front fee component must be obtained by the end lossystems or obtained by purchased from Applied Biosystems or obtained by purchasing an Authorized Thermal Cycler. No right to perform or offer commercial services of any kind using PCR, including without limitation reporting the results of purchaser's activities for a fee or other commercial consideration, is hereby granted by implication or estoppel. Further information on purchasing licenses to practice the PCR Process may be obtained by contacting the Director of Licensing at Applied Biosystems. 850 Lincoln Centre Drive, Foster City, California 94404 or the Licensing Department, Roche Molecular Systems, Inc., 1145 Allantic Avenue, Alameda, California 94501.

ow to contact Roche Applied Science

www.roche-applied-science.com

to order, solve technical queries, find product information, or contact your local sales representative.

www.roche-applied-science.com/pack-insert/1732641a.pdf



Roche Diagnostics GmbH Roche Applied Science Nonnenwald 2 82372 Penzberg Germany

RNeasy Plant Mini Protocol for Isolation of Total RNA from Plant Cells and Tissues, and Filamentous Fungi Important notes before starting

Total RNA isolation from plant cells and tissues and filamentous fungi requires the RNeasy Plant Mini Kit and cannot be performed with the RNeasy Mini Kit alone.
A maximum of 100 mg plant material or 1 x 10⁷ cells can be used per preparation. See "How much starting material can I use?" (page 12) for more information.
If using RNeasy for the first time, please read "Disruption and homogenization of starting materials" (page 16).

• If preparing RNA for the first time, please read Appendix A (page 54).

• The RNeasy Plant Mini Kit provides two different lysis buffers, Buffer RLT and Buffer RLC, which contain guanidine isothiocyanate (GITC) or guanidine hydrochloride (GuHCI), respectively. In most cases Buffer RLT is the lysis buffer of choice due to the greater cell disruption and denaturation properties of GITC. However, depending on the amount and type of secondary metabolites in some tissues (such as milky endosperm of maize or mycelia of filamentous fungi), GITC can cause solidification of the sample, making extraction of RNA impossible. In these cases Buffer RLC should be used.

• Buffer RPE is supplied as a concentrate. Before using for the first time add 4 volumes of ethanol (96–100%) as indicated on the bottle to obtain a working solution.

• Buffer RLT may form a precipitate upon storage. If necessary, warm to redissolve.

• β -Mercaptoethanol (β -ME) must be added to Buffer RLT or Buffer RLC before use (see page 20). Add 10 μ I β -ME per 1 ml of Buffer RLT or Buffer RLC. The solution is stable for 1 month.

• The time between harvesting of tissue and freezing should be minimized. Once tissue is frozen, do not allow to thaw.

• After disruption, all steps of the RNeasy protocol should be performed at 20 to 25°C. During the procedure, work quickly.

• All centrifugation steps should be performed in a microcentrifuge at 20 to 25°C. 46 RNeasy Mini Handbook 05/99

1. Grind sample under liquid nitrogen to a fine powder using a mortar and pestle. Transfer the tissue powder and liquid nitrogen to an appropriately sized tube, and allow the liquid nitrogen to evaporate. Do not allow the sample to thaw. Continue immediately with step 2.

Note: Incomplete grinding of the starting material will lead to reduced RNA yields. 2. Add 450 µl of either Buffer RLT or Buffer RLC (see notes above) to a maximum of 100 mg of tissue powder. Vortex vigorously.

A short (1–3 min) incubation at 56°C may help to disrupt tissue. However for samples with high starch content, incubation at elevated temperatures should be omitted to prevent swelling of the starting material.

Note: Ensure β -ME is added to Buffer RLT or Buffer RLC before use (see "Important notes before starting").

3. Apply lysate to the QIAshredder spin column (lilac) sitting in a 2-ml collection tube, and centrifuge for 2 min at maximum speed. Transfer flow-through fraction from QIAshredder to a new tube (not supplied) without disturbing the cell-debris pellet in the collection tube.

It may be necessary to cut the end off the pipet tip to apply the lysate to the QIAshredder spin column. This centrifugation through QIAshredder removes cell debris and simultaneously homogenizes the lysate. While most of the cell debris is retained on the QIAshredder spin column, a very small amount of cell debris will pass through and form a pellet in the collection tube. Be careful not to disturb this pellet while transferring the lysate to a new tube (not supplied).

4. Add 0.5 volumes (usually 225 μ l) ethanol (96–100%) to the cleared lysate and mix well by pipetting.

If some lysate is lost during homogenization, reduce volume of ethanol proportionally. A precipitate may form after the addition of ethanol, but this will not affect the RNeasy procedure.

*See optional step listed at the end of this protocol.

5. Apply sample (usually 675 μ l), including any precipitate which may have formed, onto an RNeasy mini spin column (pink) sitting in a 2-ml collection tube. Centrifuge for 15 sec at \geq 8000 x g (\geq 10,000 rpm).

If the volume of the mixture exceeds 700 µl, load aliquots successively onto the

RNeasy column and centrifuge as above. Reuse the same collection tube but discard flow-through* after each step. Reuse the collection tube in step 6. * Flow-through contains Buffer RLT and is therefore not compatible with bleach. RNeasy Mini Handbook 05/99 **47**

6. Pipet 700 μ l Buffer RW1 onto the RNeasy column, and centrifuge for 15 sec at \geq 8000 x g (\geq 10,000 rpm) to wash.

Discard flow-through* and collection tube.

7. Transfer RNeasy column into a new 2-ml collection tube (supplied). Pipet 500 μ l Buffer RPE onto the RNeasy column, and centrifuge for 15 sec at \geq 8000 x g (\geq 10,000 rpm).

Discard flow-through and reuse the collection tube in step 8.

Note: Ensure ethanol is added to Buffer RPE before use (see "Important notes before starting").

8. Add 500 µl Buffer RPE to the RNeasy column, and centrifuge for 2 min at maximum speed to dry the RNeasy membrane. Continue directly with step 9, or to eliminate any chance of possible Buffer RPE carryover, continue first with step 8a.

It is important to dry the RNeasy membrane since residual ethanol may interfere with subsequent reactions. This spin ensures that no residual ethanol will be carried over during elution. Discard flow-through and collection tube.

Note: Following the spin, remove the RNeasy column from the collection tube carefully so that the column does not contact the flow-through as this will result in carryover of ethanol.

8a. (Optional): Place the RNeasy spin column in a new 2-ml collection tube (not provided), and discard the old collection tube with the filtrate. Centrifuge at full speed for 1 min.

9. Transfer RNeasy column into a new 1.5-ml collection tube (supplied), and pipet $30-50 \ \mu$ l of RNase-free water directly onto the RNeasy membrane. Centrifuge for 1 min at $\ge 8000 \ x \ g \ (\ge 10,000 \ rpm)$ to elute. Repeat if the expected RNA yield is $\ge 20 \ \mu$ g.

If a second elution step is performed, elute into the same collection tube using another 30–50 µl RNase-free water.

* Flow-through contains Buffer RW1 and is therefore not compatible with bleach

* DNase Step (Optional)

a. Add 10µl DNase solution from Qiagen RNase-Free DNase Set to 70µl buffer RDD from same and mix gently without vortexing.

b. Add the 80µl DNase mix to the membrane taking care to avoid any of the mix sticking to the sides. c. Incubate at room temperature for 15 minutes.

Wizard® Plus SV Minipreps DNA Purification System

Centrifugation Protocol

Production of Cleared Lysate

- 1. Pellet 1-10ml overnight culture for 5 minutes.
- 2. Thoroughly resuspend pellet with 250µl Cell Resuspension Solution.
- 3. Add 250pl Cell Lysis Solution to each sample; invert 4 times to mix.
- 4. Add 10µl Alkaline Protease Solution; invert 4 times to mbr. Incubate 5 minutes at room temperature.
- 5. Add 350µl Neutralization Solution; invert 4 times to mix.
- 6. Centrifuge at top speed for 10 minutes at room temperature.

Binding of Plasmid DNA

- 7. Insert Spin Column into Collection Tube.
- 8. Decant cleared lysate into Spin Column.
- Centriluge at top speed for 1 minute at room temperature. Discard flowthrough and reinsert Column into Collection Tube.

Washing

- Add 750µl Wash Solution (ethanol added). Centrituge at top speed for 1 minute. Discard flowthrough and reinsert column into Collection Tube.
- 11. Repeat Step 10 with 250µl Wash Solution.
- 12. Centriluge at top speed, for 2 minutes at room temperature.

Elution

- 13. Transfer Spin Column to a sterile 1.5ml microcentriluge tube.
- Add 100µl of Nuckese-Free Water to the Spin Column. Centrifuge at top speed, for 1 minute at room temperature.
- 15. Discard column and store DNA at -20°C or below.

Andrews process with matter & andrews in Neutrical Bulletin (FRC25) andrews poor regulat from A mass of prime at annote poortings, com

ORDERING/TECHNICAL INFORMATION: www.promega.com • Phone 608-274-4330 • Fax 608-277-2601

01960-2002 Picnace Centeralice. All Fights Reserved





Quick.



High Pure PCR Product Purification Kit - Roche

2.3 Purification of PCR Products in Solution after Amplification In the following protocol the purification of PCR products in solution after amplification is described.

L To process a larger sample (>100 _l), either increase proportionally the amount of Binding Buffer (Step 1), or divide the larger sample into several 100 _l aliquots and process each as a separate sample.

_After PCR is complete, adjust total volume for each PCR tube (reaction components + DNA product) to 100 _I:

• Add 500 _I Binding Buffer to each 100 _I PCR tube.

N Mineral oil or wax do not need to be removed from the PCR solution before adding the Binding Buffer.

• Mix sample (Binding Buffer + PCR solution) well.

• Insert one High Pure Filter Tube into one Collection Tube.

• Transfer the sample from step 1 using a pipette to the upper reservoir of the Filter Tube.

• Centrifuge 30 - 60 s at maximum speed in a standard table top centrifuge at +15 to +25°C.

• Disconnect the Filter Tube, and discard the flowthrough solution.

• Reconnect the Filter Tube to the same Collection Tube.

. • Add 500 I Wash Buffer to the upper reservoir.

• Centrifuge 1 min at maximum speed (as above).

• Discard the flowthrough solution.

• Recombine the Filter Tube with the same Collection Tube.

• Add 200 _I Wash Buffer.

• Centrifuge 1 min at maximum speed (as above).

N This second 200 _I wash step ensures optimal purity and complete removal of Wash Buffer from the glass fibers.

_• Discard the flowthrough solution and Collection Tube.

Reconnect the Filter Tube to a clean 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube.

• Add 50 - 100 _I Elution Buffer to the upper reservoir of the Filter Tube.

• Centrifuge 1 min at maximum speed.

N Do not use water for elution since alkaline pH is required for optimal yield.

_ The microcentrifuge tube now contains the purified DNA. N When subsequent OD₂₆₀ determination is planned, centrifuge the eluate for more than 1 min at maximum speed to remove residual glass fibers from the eluate, because they may disturb absorbance measurement. Use an aliquot of the supernatant to determine concentration.

L Either use the eluted DNA directly or store the eluted DNA at +2 to +8°C or _15 to _25°C for later analysis.

2.4 Purification of DNA Fragments from Agarose Gel

In the following table the purification procedure for DNA from a 100 mg agarose gel slice is described:

_ Isolate DNA band of interest electrophoretically as follows.

· Load PCR reaction mixture on a 0.8 - 2% agarose gel.

• Use 1 × TAE or 1 × TBE as running buffer.

• Electrophorese until DNA band of interest is isolated from adjacent contaminating fragments

_ Identify bands by staining gel with ethidium bromide or SYBR Green I Nucleic Acid Gel Stain*.

N Wear gloves, ethidium bromide is a known potent carcinogen.

_ Cut desired DNA band from gel using an ethanol-cleaned scalpel or razor blade.

N Minimize gel volume by visualizing DNA and cutting the smallest possible gel slice on a UV light box.

Place excised agarose gel slice in a sterile 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube.
Determine gel mass by first pre-weighting the tube, and then reweighting the tube with the excised gel slice.

_ Add 300 _I Binding Buffer for every 100 mg agarose gel slice to the microcentrifuge tube.

- Dissolve agarose gel slice in order to release the DNA:

• Vortex the microcentrifuge tube 15 - 30 s to resuspend the gel slice in the Binding Buffer.

Incubate the suspension for 10 min at 56°C.

- Vortex the tube briefly every 2 3 min during incubation.
- _ After the agarose gel slice is completely dissolved:

• Add 150 _I isopropanol for every 100 mg agarose gel slice to the tube.

Vortex thoroughly.

• Insert one High Pure Filter Tube into one Collection Tube.

• Pipette the entire contents of the microcentrifuge tube into the upper

reservoir of the Filter Tube.

N Do not exceed 700 _I total volume. If mixture is > 700 _I, split the

volume and use two separate Filter Tubes for each portion.

Centrifuge 30 - 60 s at maximum speed in a standard table top centrifuge

at +15 to +25°C.

- Discard the flowthrough solution.
- Reconnect Filter Tube with the same Collection Tube.
- Add 500 _I Wash Buffer to the upper reservoir.
- Centrifuge 1 min at maximum speed (as above).
- Discard the flowthrough solution.
- Recombine Filter Tube with the same Collection Tube.
- Add 200 _I Wash Buffer.
- Centrifuge 1 min at maximum speed.

L This second 200 _I wash step ensures optimal purity and complete removal of Wash Buffer from the glass fibers.

- Discard the flowthrough solution and Collection Tube.
- Recombine Filter Tube with a clean 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube.
- Add 50 100 _I Elution Buffer to the upper reservoir of the Filter Tube.
- Centrifuge 1 min at maximum speed.

_ The microcentrifuge tube now contains the purified DNA. N When subsequent OD260 determination is planned, centrifuge the eluate for more than 1 min at maximum speed to remove residual glass fibers from the eluate, because they may disturb absorbance measurement. Use an aliquot of the supernatant to determine concentration.

L Either use the eluted DNA directly or store the eluted DNA at +2 to +8°C or _15 to _25°C for later analysis.

www.roche-applied-science.com *available from Roche Applied Science

